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CHAPTER 1

THE STORY OF WALTER MONTAGU.

IN the year 1604, in the parish of St. Botolph without cmap.
Aldersgate, the first of the three wives of Henry

Montagu, late member of parliament for Higham

Ferrars, but now recorder of and M.P. for the city of

London, and recently knighted, at the coronation of

James 1., bore him a second son who was christened

by the name of Walter. By the time this Walter had

passed through Sydney College with credit, and had

attained his twenty-second year, his father had passed,

more creditably still, from the offices above enumerated,

and through those of Temple Reader, Serjeant, Lord

Chief Justice, and Lord High Treasurer, to the peerage

—first as Lord Kimbolton and Viscount Mandeville, and.

finally as Earl of Manchester.

One year previous to the attainment of this last
honour, Walter Montagu was employed by the Duke of
Buckingham on secret service, and when the duke men-
tioned the circumstance, or introduced the negotiator
to the king, James is said to have been startled, but.
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2 COURT AND SOCIETY.

cHAP. wherefore, we arenot told. In March 1625, as a docu-

— ' mentin the Record Office informs us, Buckingham was

“ preparing for France,” as “ Wat. Montagu brings word

that all is forward, and the lady shall be delivered in

thirty days,” which time was needed, “to get some

points of the dispensation qualified at Rome; but,

whether or not, the match is to proceed.” Walter

Montagu was at this time twenty-one years old, and thus

the negotiator, whose ¢special service” was rewarded

with 200/, commenced a service to Henrietta Maria,
which ended only with his life.

How actively Walter Montagu was engaged in public
business from the very first year of the reign of Charles
I, we learn from other documents in the Record
Office.  In a letter from Sir Benjamin Rudyerd to Sir
Francis Nethersole, dated from Whitehall, February 3,
1626, amid brief gossip detailing that the king had been
crowned on the previous day, but that the queen,
instead of participating in the ceremony, “her church
not recognising our bishops,” stood at a window of Sir
Abraham Williams’s to see the show ;—that her pastoral
and mask were deferred till Shrovetide ; — and matters
of similar import,—amid all this there is notice of a
report that Walter Montagu, who had been sent to
France the year before, on business connected with the
arbitrary seizure of some English vessels, had returned to
England, bringing with him a promise of restitution of
our ships, and an assurance of a peace being about to
be concluded with the Protestants. But the writer much
misdoubts that such report is only so much political
capital, and manufactured simply as “a preparation
for the parliament.”

How the young envoy came (he was then no more
than twenty-two), or what intelligence he really brought
with him, we do not subsequently learn ; but we meet
with him on the 13th of the same month “kept at Dover
for want of a wind.” He was there with several other
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wind-bound travellers on their way beyond sea, but Sir
John Hippisley assures Buckingham that  none shall 2o
before him.” Among the travellers alluded to above,
there were two who were suspicious, and who were
ultimately arrested at Faversham, for attempting to
cross the channel clandestinely.

On the 17th, Mr. Montagu was still detained at Dover.
Sir Henry Palmer was to have carried him over in his
ship, The John Bonaventurw, but the captain writes
from the Downs that his ship is leaky, that he has no
victual at all on board, and that the weather not only
prevented him from getting round to Dover to receive
Walter Montagu, but what seemed quite as important,
he was unable to reach that port to ship a supply of
beer for his crew.

At that period a governor of Dover Castle had no
easy life or idle time. His eye was for ever restlessly
changing from looking on one stranger to gazing in the
face of another temporary sojourner in the town. Mr.
Montagu seems to have been as vigilant as the gov-
ernor, but on the 19th young Walter was away for Calais
with Mr. Elphinstone and the “Frenchman,” with an
intimation that if Sir John did not hear from him by
Tuesday, he had better go up to London. One seems
to be listening to a comedy of which one has not yet
obtained a key towards unravelling the plot. Now and
again some unlucky French priest is being tracked, who
appears and disappears like the virtuous hero of a
melodrama. Sir John is very much troubled to catch
one of whom he has been informed by Lord Holland ;
by that Henry Rich whose peerage was not two years
old, and who was himself, some three and twenty years
later, tracked by spies, and carried to the block. Sir
John naively complains that the suspected priest, by
his goodwill, will not come near him. It is of no avail
that he knows the priest has a flaxen beard inclined to
a whitish ; Sir John cannot trap a slippery fellow who
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4 COURT AND SOCIETY.

has been known to go even to court under the wing of
the French Ambassador. Watch for him at Rochester
Bridge! Waylay the ports in Essex! Such are the
suggestions to others, whereby to catch a man whom
he cannot catch himself. The time also came when
Walter Montagu was to be as narrowly looked after in
the ports of Kent and Essex as this much-wanted
Frenchman himself, and for much the same kind of
reason.

Of the nature of the business transacted by Montagu
in France, we know nothing. It must have been of
some difficulty, for he did not reach Dover again
until the middle of September. TLanding at the
pier, which was about a mile from the posthouse,
he ordered Samuecl Moore, the deputy postmaster, to
provide him with “ten horses to ride to Canterbury.”
The deputy refused, on the ground of the regulation that
all persons who please to ride with horn and guide, as
Montagu wished to do, must repair to the posthouse;
that 1s, a gentleman was obliged to go for his own horses,
the horses were not to be brought to him. On Montagu’s
complaint, Moore was brought up before the council
in London for this act of insolence to the queen’s
friend and servant, but Huggesen, the Postmaster of
Dover, justified his subordinate ; acknowledging indeed
that he was in fault, as regarded this special case, but
right as regarded the rule established. In the February
of the following year, 1626, a warrant was issued for
the payment of 20017 for the “secret service ” on which
Walter had been despatched to France, in the year pre-
ceding; and as if this had not been considered guerdon
rich enough for such a messenger, or perhaps as recom-
pense for new service, not otherwise designated but as
“secret,” in March 1627, a second warrant conferred
on him an additional 4007,

In the July of the last-named year, Walter Montagu
was afloat-again, this time on his way to Flushing. It
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was war time, and Captain Sydenham, whose ship of cmHaP.

war conveyed the secret envoy to his destined port, was
ordered to lose no opportunity of taking or sinking any
of the enemy’s vessels by the way.

Now, Sydenham’s ship was The Mary Rose. She
remained riding at the Hope, ostensibly to press men
for the sea-service. The captain was absent ; the other
officers had lodgings or houses near the ship, and were
flush of money, having just received their pay. *They
will keep her there these twelvemonths,” thought the
gallant Sir Henry Mervyn, who wrote to Nicholas —
the king’s private secretary—to order Sydenham to see
to the despatch of the ship himself. Accordingly from
Wanstead there came a command from the Kking,
addressed to Sydenham, “to transport Mr. Walter
Montagu, and such as shall go with him, to some
convenient port of the United Provinces, and to
await further directions of Lord Carleton, the king’s
ambassador.” :

Walter fell into the hands of the French, who kept
him in free custody. As a solace in his misfortune,
perhaps, Walter Montagu’s name was inserted this
summer —in the same year which saw his™ father
made Lord Privy Seal —in association with that of
his elder brother, Edward Viscount Mandeville, in a
grant to them of the office of Chief Rangers of the forest
of Waybridge, Huntingdon, with a fee of 20. a year.
King James had made a similar grant to “Sir Oliver
Williams alias Cromwell, and Henry Williams alias
Cromwell,” which gentlemen now made surrender of the
grant to the Lord President of the Council, on whose
nomination the office was transferred to Edward and
Walter Montagu. The Cromwells appeared to be at this
time sinking fast; they were ceasing to represent the
county ; they were selling Hinchingbroke; they were
yielding their knightly and courtly offices. Yetin twenty
years from this very date, they were the first family n
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caar.  England. Of Walter Montagu’s proceedings during this
. year, we learn no more than that he was “stayed in
France.” In April 1628, he was “ set free,” and was
again in England and at court. In an intercepted letter
written by one John Hope, and addressed to some
anonymous correspondent at Brussels, King Charles
is described as speaking of Walter’s ¢ exceeding good
service ;7 but, says John Hope, who seems to have
been a mqlcontent at home, “ the service can be nothing

worth that such a one can bring home.”

“Such a one,” however, was esteemed very highly
by the king, who, in May 1628, was greatly incensed
by the return of Lord Denbigh and his fleet from before
Rochelle, without striking a blow there to relieve the
French Protestants beleaguered by the French Catholics.
Montagu was sent down to Plymouth to acquire what
information he could about the reason for this mis-
carriage ; and he was accompanied by Lord Feilding
and SlI‘ John Coke. The naval commanders-in-
chief accused each other of not daring to hazard the
flect. Charles thought that English ships were built,
not to be kept safe, but put in peril for the sake of
victory in the cause of humanity. He was never seen
to have been so moved as at the intelligence brought
home to him from La Rochelle. “What if the ships
had been lost?” was his generous exclamation, “I
had timber enough to build more!” There was
renewed exertion to maintain the good name of
England, and Secretary Coke writes to Buckingham,
from Portsmouth, that “Mr. Montagu has descended
in his own person to take pains in putting the victuals
aboard.” In June the young fellow—with no office or
title, but engaged in every sort of secret and confidential
work—was himself on the seas with the gallant Sir
Henry Palmer. He did not, however, accompany the new
expedition to Rochelle, to help towards the success of
which, on the last Sunday in August, “a communion



ASSASSINATION OF BUCKINGHAM. 7

was celebrated aboard all the ships of the fleet.” That
Montagu was as vigilant as he was active may be seen
from an incident told by Secretary Coke to Conway.
Walter had been dining with the Duke of Buckingham
in the town of Portsmouth; and he complained so
warmly at table of the dearness and the ill-supply of
all necessary provisions in Portsmouth, that the duke
was stirred to remedy the grievance ; no unimportant
step at that time, when his Majesty’s sailors were half-
starved in their commissariat, and more than half-
cheated in their pay.

This was the last good office rendered by Bucking-
ham to the English service. On the third Saturday
in August 1628, the duke keeping his bed late,
he was called up by Walter Montagu to hear some
good news of the relief, however tardy, of Ro-
chellee. M. de Soubise followed Walter into the
chamber, and de ‘Soubise was, followed by Lieu-
tenant Felton, who then and there, and not in the
street as the popular legend describes it, stabbed the
duke in the left breast, of which wound he presently
died. It was at first thought that some one of the
French company had assaulted the duke, but Felton,
as merciless to himself as to his victim, at once
acknowledged and justified the deed for which he
subsequently suffered death. :

Later in the year, Walter went abroad to negotidte
with Richelieu an exchange of prisoners, and returned
home with a statement of wants in the fleet and army,
and an account of what was being done or left undone
by Lindsey in the fleet before Rochelle. What the
king heard from Montagu, Kniphausen, and Carleton we
may conjecture from some passages addressed in a
letter from Charles to the Earl of Lindsey, in October
1628. 1In this letter the writer urges the earl not to
spare the king’s ships when his and the nation’s honour
was in question. His heart was bent on a brave
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it



CHAP:
L

——

8 COURT AND SOCIETY.

attempt even if failure followed; and his sentiment
might be illustrated in the words of Southwell :—

The death is eased that worthy band hath wrought ;
Some honour lives in honourable spoil.

Between London and Paris, Walter Montagu passed
ever and anon on the king’s business connected with
the relief of Rochelle, where Lindsey was ill seconded
by his captains. Something like a largesse was flung
to him in the course of this service, in the shape of a
grant—shared by his younger brothers, James and
George (the latter the ancestor to the Earls of Halifax),
and William Walley—of an office for registering Chan-
cery writs, with a fee of fourpence divided among them
for each writ.

On one of the occasions above alluded to, Walter
Montagu was conveyed from Cowes to Cherbourg by
Richard Pratt. The governor of Cherbourg granted
Pratt a safe-conduct back, on the mariner’s word and
Montagu’s written assurance that the former would
commit no act of hostility by the way. Master Pratt,
however, on his way homeward, fell in with The Pheenix
with a French crew on board, attacked, captured, and
carried her to England, where she was adjudged lawful
prize. Montagu instantly complained of this breach of
faith with the French, and the Lords Commissioners of
the Admiralty ordered the too zealous mariner of Cowes
to answer the charge in their august presence.

There are two sides to every story, and Pratt pre-
sented this. . He had contracted, he said, with Mr.
Montagu’s man to convey his master from Cowes to
Cherbourg for twenty pounds. When they arrived at
the latter port, Mr. Montagu, Pratt alleged, gave him
but ten, adding, however, a hint that they might have
the good fortune to make twenty pounds a man on their
way back. Richard Pratt adopted the suggestion with
a readiness natural to a Cowes mariner, and, seven miles
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from shore, he encountered The Pheenix—an English
ship, of Dartmouth, it is true, but in the possession of
Frenchmen—who freely yielded on being vigorously at-
tacked. The loyal and eager Richard Pratt, after setting
aside his Majesty’s share and those of his company, only
got five pounds for himself; and for this little matter
he had lain three weeks in the messenger’s hands, on
Mr. Montagu’s complaint, without coming to final
examination. He petitioned either to be conclusively
heard, or incontinently set free.

Walter Montagu wished no ill to Richard Pratt, but
he urged the propriety of compelling the latter to
restore the ship in the condition in which she was
found, and, on Christmas Eve 1628, Pratt signed a
bond of 1004, for the redelivery of The Pheenix of Dart-
mouth to those from whom he had taken her, or to the
Captain of Cowes Castle, who was then a far more
important person than he is now.

For more than a year Walter Montagu appears to
have remained abroad, with brief intervals of return;
in March 1631, 1,100/ were paid to him “for his
Majesty’s secret service in France,” with an additional
400/. «for his charges in his journey.” He did not
return permanently to England till 1633.

In that, or perhaps in the following year, Walter
Montagu appeared as a dramatist, in which line he was
less successful than as a negotiator. The comedy or
pastoral of which he was the author bore the title of
¢ The Shepherd’s Complaint,” and it was privately repre-
sented before King Charles and the Court, by the
Queen and her “ladies of honour;”—no male performer

had part therein. The royal and noble actresses were,

Queen Henrietta Maria, “my Lady Marquess,” the Lady
Anne Feilding, Mrs. Cecilia Crofts, Sophia and Victoria
Carew, Arden, Villiers, Howard, Kirke, Beaumont,
Seymour, and ¢ the mother of the maids.” This prose
pastoral is long, tedious, stilted, and incomprehensible ;
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with a finale in which the apparent difficulties in the
way of the general happiness-are surmounted. At
least, the Queen says so, in the character of Belezza,
whereupon a graceful “tag” is addressed to her
Majesty, in the words: —

May you live long and know not till you're told,

T’ endear your beauty’s wonder, you are old ;

And when heav’n’s heat shall draw you to the sky,
May you transfigured, not disfigured, die.

A quarter of a century later,- when monarchy was on
its feet again, and the gay courtier who had written
this piece was a religious recluse, very comfortable
in his abbey of Pontoise in France, this comedy was
published under the editorship of an individual who
revealed himself no further than by the initials T. D.
“It is known,” says T. D., “these papers have long
slept, and are now raised to put on that immortality
which nothing had hitherto deprived them of but their
concealment.” Subsequently he informs his public that
the scenes of this play “address themselves to the in-
spired and more refined part of men—such as are
capable to be ravished when they find a fancy bright
and high as the Pheebus that gave it.” Perhaps those
capable persons may be equal to the enjoyment
indicated, but Suckling judged more correctly of the
merits of the piece and the modesty of its author, in
his description of the assembling of the poets to win a
laurel crown from the-hands of Apollo :—

‘Wat Montagu now stood forth to his trial,

And did not so much as expect a denial.

But witty Apollo asked him first of all,

If he understood his own pastoral,

For if he could do it, 't would plainly appear

He understood more than any man there,

And did merit the bays above all the rest— 3
But the Monsieur was modest, and silence confest.

This judgment was rendered long before the play
was printed. Wat Montagu and Tom Carew were
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sworn friends. The latter was the worshipper of
Lucinda and Celia, and the writer of the epitaphs on
Mary Villiers and Maria Wentworth—that on the latter
containing the famous lines on Maria’s soul, indicating
that it

grew so fast within,
It broke the outward shell of sin,
And hatch’d itself a cherubim !

So wrote King Charles’s Gentleman of the Chamber and
Sewer in Ordinary, turned poet. United with these
two friends in loving and jovial fraternity were Aure-
lian Townsend ; Sandys, the traveller and rhymer ; May,
the Long Parliament historian ; young Will Davenant,
and a score of good fellows of similar tastes.

After Tom Carew died, in 1639, a change came over
the once gay Walter Montagu. A feigned or a well-
founded disgust of court-life took him abroad, where he
wandered on to Rome, in the alleged hope that he, the
busy cavalier and poet, the wit, the gallant, the man
about town, might effect a reconcﬂlatlon between the two
churches ! Before he reached the ancient city, the fact of
his conversion to the Church of Rome was known, and
his onward journey assumed the appearance of a triumph.
He was greeted by all that-was known to be noble,
and all that seemed to be holy. Pope and cardinals
gladdened him with banquets and benedictions ; pre-
* cedence was awarded to him before. all others of his
countrymen, whatever might be their rank, at the Papal
Court, and when, on his return to London, he was
appointed Chamberlain to the Queen, the conclusion
was probably arrived at that, whatever might be the
nature of the mission entrusted to him, he had accom-
plished it with perfect success.

There is no doubt that his success was great in
raising contributions among the Roman Catholics to
enable the king to expel the Scots. In this he was
aided by Sir Kenelm Digby ; but missions like these, in
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aid of royalty, ultimately brought him and his colleagues
into collision with the House of Commons. Walter
was arrested at Rochester, on his return from a ne-
gotiation abroad, and suffered a long imprisonment in
the Tower, from which he was released in 1647. Two
years later, the Parliament, in which his brother, Lord
Kimbolton, played so grand a part, holding him and
the like of him to be dangerous persons, passed a
decree by which he and Sir Kenelm Digby were doomed
to perpetual banishment, with confiscation of estate,
and with menace of the penalty of death if either
of them should dare to revisit England without the
authority of Parliament.

The banished men undertook never again to touch
English soil, without permission asked. Walter Mon-
tagu, leaving his elder brother, Kimbolton, on the
popular and winning side, sought refuge, welcome,
honour, and—in every sense of the word—mnew life,
in France. The fugitive queen, Henrietta Maria, re-
ceived the exile with enthusiasm; the Romish Church
adopted him as a son, and he acknowledged her as a
mother. Walter Montagu became abbot of Pon-
toise. His latter life was as different from the
old as his ¢ Miscellanea Spiritualia’ was different from
the comedy of the ¢Shepherd’s Complaint, in which
Henrietta Maria had flaunted it, and at which Suckling
had flung his railleryin verse. The plumed cavalier
of Whitehall, the jovial comrade of Carew and his
mates, the ever-active and vigilant messenger of two
courts, took orders in the Church of Rome, and the
erst chamberlain of the queen thereon became her
almoner. Ill-natured people remark, that “he was
said to have been her gallant.” Each man spoke of
him and his acts according to the glass, of judgment
or of prejudice, through which he saw. Carte could
hardly speak ill enough either of his temper, his
objects, or his principles. Others describe him as
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a being totally given up to heaven and heavenly things;
grave, carnest, pious, studious, humble, unambitious,
and content. The queen placed the little Duke
of Gloucester under his care and training, and forth-
with that most religious and gracious king, as yet
without a crown—Charles IT.—became much troubled
as to his younger brother’s orthodoxy. The French
monarch closed the Protestant chapel which had been
opened for the use of the English (Protestant) servants
of the fugitive royal family in the Louvre, and this act
was ascribed to the spiritual pride and fiery zeal of
Walter Montagu. “ On my way from Rouen,” writes
Ormond, in 1659, “I saw Abbé Montagu, at his
very fine abbey. I would my secretary had such
another.”

Ormond and Walter Montagu had met five years pre-
viously, when the former had been despatched to rescue
the young Duke of Gloucester from the influences of
such a tutor as the Abbot of Pontoise. Under those
influences the queen mother had placed him, in order
that he might be brought by persuasion or compulsion
into the Church of Rome. This course was a direct
infringement of a solemn promise which she had made
to her eldest son, that in matters of religion she would
not interfere with the early training of the Duke of
Gloucester in the tenets of the Established Church.
Walter Montagu, doubtless, held himself unbound by
such an agreement, and he is said to have used, when
other arguments failed, the lure of the crown of
England as the recompense of his illustrious pupil’s
conversion. But the boy had not been unwisely trained
even by his eldest brother; and it was in obedience to
instructions received ffom Charles that the persecuted
little prince stoutly resisted all arguments by an obsti-
nate silence, as he patiently endured worse treatment
when harsher means were resorted to. Amid the
blandishments of the earlier and persuasive course, he
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did not forget the words of his brother, that while he
persevered in his own faith he would be made much
of, but that, once a convert, he would be treated with
contempt. Amid the harsher treatment, when under
the ex-queen’s care, the poor and scanty food, the bed,
made the nurse of unrest, the scorn of lacqueys taught
to fling their scorn, the duke kept in mind the counsel
of his dying father, and would not budge an inch
towards the goal whither they sought to drive him. It
was then that he was sent to the Abbot of Pontoise,
who, unable to succeed with him, advised his being
transferred to the College of Jesuits. It was from that
fate thut Ormond, with much trouble, ultimately rescued
him, and the stanch little duke was stedfast in the
faith till the fatal night of 1660, when he died of small-
pox, through the great negligence of his doctors, and
his body, brought down Somerset House stairs, went up
the river by torchlight to be buried at Westminster.

At this time, Ormond was interested in more than
one person in France, a young lady as well as a young
duke : — the former not unconnected with the family
of Montagu. The lady in question was Lady Isabella
Rich. When Ormond was courting the daughter of the
Farl of Desmond, Isabella Rich was her friend and
companion. In her attractions Ormond forgot for
awhile those of his future bride ; but no one had such
good cause to regret or even to curse them as Isabella
Rich herself, whose love-passages with the suitor of her
friend rendered it necessary for her to withdraw for a
time to France. The affair, however, was so discreetly
handled, that Ormond’s wife enjoyed a happy ignorance,
and the intimacy of the two ladies remained unbroken
through many years. Letters referring to the intimacy
of Ormond and Lady Isabella Rich have been recently
discovered, it is said, at Kilkenny, and in these, it is added,
“poor Belle” is mentioned, compassionately. Their
story it will be for other pens to tell ; meanwhile, we
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find Walter Montagu close in attendance upon Henrietta
Maria, keeping her conscience, administering her alms,
and receiving the homage of other seceders from the
Church of England. Perhaps the most accepted
tribute of this nature was the one paid to him by the
ex-bishop of Bangor, who dedicated to him a well-
known work, printed at Douay, in 1654, and which
was entitled, ‘The End to Controversy between the
Roman Catholic and Protestant Religions.” Z7hat end,
however, remains as remote as ever.

Abbot Montagu had promised never to return to
England without permission from the legal authorities.
This he appears to have applied for through his brother
Edward, the Lord Kimbolton and Mandeville of the
first Charles’s days, but now the second Earl of Man-
chester. The following letter is without date, but was
written, manifestly, in the days of the commonwealth,
and apparently previous to the time when the abbot
had resolved to reside in France permanently :—

ABBOT MONTAGU TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.

“ My Lorp,—I have been advertised this week by
Mr. Birch that he had sent me a letter from you the
week before, which having miscarried by my being
absent from hence, I now give you thanks for your
care in it to answer to my desire concerning my per-
mission to come over for some few days to despatch my
private business. He writes me word that there is
difficulty in this desire. I shall expect then, according
to your directions and council, a better conjuncture,
and desire you that you would grant the pass I have
so long solicited for some few goods I have specified to
Mer. Birch to be sent to me. In this I can conceive no
difficulty, having been long promised. Therefore I pray,
my Lord, afford me a little of your credit at ‘granting
this small request. I have desired you to pay the 1004
for my bed to Mr. de Vos upon his receipt by my last
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letter, and must earnestly desire you that I may have
the half-year’s rent of what my father hath left me, at
our Lady day, when I conceive it is due. I am going
back to live as quietly as I can in France, where I hope
to hear from your Lordship, resting your Lordship’s
humble servant and most affectionate brother,

“W. MoNTAGU.
“ Hoeo : 16th February.”

The next letter, also addressed to the Earl of Man-
chester, 1s from Pontoise, but is without other date
than ¢ Pontoise, the 12th of April.”

ABBOT MONTAGU TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.

“ My Lorp,—I have received yours, wherein you did
me the favour to advise me to desist in my purpose of
coming to England; you may see, by what hath
followed since, I had little provision of what hath
happened since, otherwise I should not have proposed
it ; and it may discredit to you the opinion that I hear
is current of my being priest. I should not so soon
have thought to be rid of such an honour, if T had had
it, as my coming into England must have endangered
my business that required it. It was the sale of my
house and the discharge of some debts which you are
engaged in ; I doubt not but the Sherriff Garrett will
make his own law at Guildhall against me, if you
appear not concerned in it.  For his book debt I do
not acknofvledge ; I say, the most part of it was com-
prised in the bond which I desire to pay, but if he
should demand interest upon it, since the time it was
due, it would double the principal, therefore I pray, my
Lord, bring him to reason in that; and there is 5007
seized, out of which to pay him and my Lady Wild. For
the barber, Geordist’s (?) brother, the debt is to me.
I am sure I owed his brother not 307 in the world.
Therefore I pray, my Lord, have a care of this. Give
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me leave to offer you my prayers, resting your most
affectionate brother and humble servant,
“W. MoxTaGu.”

And here a letter of Robert Sydney, second Earl of
Leicester, addressed to Lord Mandeville, subsequently
second Earl of Manchester, in February 1640-1 may
be quoted, for the sake at least of one paragraph in
reference to Walter Montagu, Lord Mandeville’s bro-
ther. The paragraph runs thus:—

THE EARL OF LEICESTER TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.

“T should be glad to help your brother to a ear-
dinal’s hat, for I wish him very well anywhere but in
England, and there too, if he were our brother as well
as yours ; but I have no power in the Consistory, all
those of that dependance shun me like the plague ;
and if they of the other side think ill of me too, I have
ill luck, but I do not care, for in despite of the world,
I will, with God’s blessing, live and die an honest man,
and your Lordship’s brother and humble servant,

“ LEEICESTER.”

The brotherhood here alluded to was simply one by
courtesy. Lord Mandeville’s wife, the second of five,
was a daughter of Robert Rich, Earl of Warwick,
and Leicester’s wife was Dorothy, daughter of the Earl
~of Northumberland, whose wife was the sister of

Penelope Rich, Countess of Warwick. The Earl of
Leicester, who would have procured a cardinal’s hat
for Walter Montagu had he only possessed sufficient
influence, was the father of Algernon Sydney, and of the
handsome Henry, who was beloved by the Duchess of
York, and was created Earl of Romney by King
William.

To return to Walter Montagu, we have to observe
that the opportunity of visiting England which he
sought when 1t was difficult to obtqm he is S‘lld to hfne
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declined when the facilities were greater. This, how-
ever, was not the case, as the following simple and
touching letter from the younger to the elder brother
will satisfactorily show. It is dated “ 23 October 1660,”
but no placeis named ; and it is superscribed “For my
Lord of Manchester.”

ABBOT MONTAGU TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.

« My Lorp,—The Cardinal’s gentleman is returned
fully satisfied with your civilities ; and very shortly, I
hope in God, to partake of them myself. Being obliged
by my place in the Queen’s family to attend her, though
my stay will be very little, yet I confess my great satis-
faction in seeing once again my friends, and especially
you, whom Ilove with all the tenderness of nature, and
duty of consideration of all your goodness and kind-
ness to me; and since it is incumbent to my duty to
the Queen, I presume my appearance in my own pro-
fession cannot be offensive ; I presume by your desire
of it that it cannot be unreasonable, so that my con-
tentment in this opportunity of seeing you is very great,
which I hope shortly to express to you myself; and,
truly, you may be assured that the Queen hath a most
right understanding of your merit to her, and a great
desire to make you all the returns in her power,
whereof my Lord of St. Albans and I will be caution ;
remaining, my Lord, your most affectionate brother
and humble servant, “W. MonTAGU.”

There are no details of this visit of Walter Montagu
to his brother Edward ; it was probably not fruitless
either in personal or political results; for we know
that when Charles II. stood in need of the aid of
France, Ormond sought the mediation of the Abbot@f
Pontoise with Louis XIV. The Abbot expressed his
readiness to serve the King of England whenever the
king himself should require it at his hands. Nothing
further came of it. Later, the queen-mother would
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have carried him to England with her on her coming
over to visit her son, but Montagu then declined to
accompany her. He had no desire, according to
Madame de Motteville, to make his fortune in England.
His attachment, so that lady asserts, was in France, to
Anne of Austria, and, she adds, “to say the truth of
him, his true piety made him in all things and in all
countries very disinterested.”

Towards Kimbolton then, or even towards England,
he does not seem to have again directed his steps, but
he was not without English companions in his self-
imposed exile. John Digby, a younger son of the Earl
of Bristol, and General of the Horse, under Hopetown,
was with him at Pontoise. The eavalier had lived ob-
scurely in England, after the fall of the king, and still
more obscurely in France, but he made his way to
Pontoise, and there found a resting-place in his weary
pilgrimage. The ex-cavalry leader there laid down his
old faith, and the cavaliers of his time who travelled to
Paris by way of Pentoise were edified or otherwise
affected, on beholding the once fiery leader in a charge
of horse, gravely celebrating mass in the chapel of the
English nuns.

If a tranquil life be a happy life, Walter Montagu
found happiness at Pontoise. Little more is known of
him till 1672. In that year he published his transla-
tion of Bossuet’s ¢ Exposition of the Doctrine of the
Catholic Church in the Points of Controversy with
those of the pretended Reformation.’” The book, printed
abroad, was introduced into England. In the preface,
he praises the author, his work, and his object; and
after expressing a hope that Englishmen may profit by
it, he adds :—* By this motive I have been persuaded

0 pass into my country this foreign commodity, which
like a delicate wine of the same place, may lose some-
what of the natural spirit and quickness by the trans-
port; yet I may presume that it retaineth all those

c2
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healthful and cordial qualities it had in the native pro-
duce. And, having heretofore presented my country,
in their several seasons, spring flowers and others,
summer fruits, as the Perfumes of Poetry and the
Reflections of Morality, now, in this winter of my age,
I transport to my nation this riper and more whole-
some fruit, the feeding whereon, contrary to the effect
denounced against the forbidden fruit, may produce
life everlasting.” All abbot, priest, royal almoner as
he was, he could not forget his cavalier days, when he
wrote his ¢ Shepherd’s Complaint,” and queens and maids
of honour wore his “spring flowers” on the stage at
Whitehall.

It is said that Mazarin was indebted to Walter Mon-
tagu in a great degree for being promoted to' the favour
and service of Anne of Austria, and that the cardinal re-
paid the service with vast ingratitude. Anthony Wood
contrasts the two men, by remarking that, «whereas
Mazarin made it his chief business to make a fortune
and raise a family, Montagu, who was of a most
generous and noble nature, and a person of great piety,
did act to the contrary by spending all he could obtain
to public and pious uses.’

Five years after the publication of Bossuet’s con-
troversial work in its translated form, the good Abbot
Montagu of Pontoise died, in 1677, in the seventy-
third year of his age. Some accounts state that he was
buried in the Chapel of the Hospital of Incurables in
Paris, but the manuscript book belonging to Mr.
George Montagu records that he died indeed at Paris,
but that he was buried at Pontoise. The laudatory
epitaph over his remains, commencing with the “ Hic
jacet Dominus Gualtemus de Montagu,” after registering
his many virtues, terminates by the rather quaint than
elegant remark that “of this monastery he was the
parent and ruler, and no wonder, therefore, is 1t that

_his bowels are preserved here in whose bowels this

House grew and flourished.”
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CHAPTER IL

DEAD AND LIVING AMBASSADORS.

HIS volume might be called a Book of Embassies,
for it will contain much of the experiences of the
fourth Earl of Manchester, as representative of England
at various foreign courts, and of other negotiators at
Paris, Venice, and Vienna. The work was often very
hard, the wages were always very small. When an
English ambassador in those days took his pay, he
might have remarked with the peasant clown in Shak-
speare—* Remuneration, is Latin for three farthings!”

It would appear that English ambassadors were the
natural guardians of English travelling youth. Sir Isaac
Wake, at Turin, is described as being “in place of a
father to Lord Doncaster,” son of James Earl of Carlisle.
According as Wake directed, Lord Doncaster travelled
to Alessandria, Genoa, or Florence ; with Lord Craven
as a companion, the latter lord having received “licence
from Mr. Boswell to travel for two years.”

Then we meet with Mary, Countess of Westmoreland,
who has fears for her son Francis. She is not afraid
that he will run into flagrant vices, but the good mother
thinks he will idle away his time ; and Sir Isaac Wake
is expected to look after him.

In 1632, Wake died at his post in France, and
Captain Plumleigh was despatched from the Downs to
Calais Roads, in The Tenth Whelp, to “stand over for
the corpse.” Plumleigh remained in the Roads from the
27th of June to the 12th of July, and then he wrote
home, stating that he could hear nothing of the dead
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ambassador, that he had only six days’ provision left,
and that he could wait but a few days longer.

After some delay, the body of Sir Isaac arrived at
the coast,and was put on board, not The Tenth Whelp,
but The Assurance, under the command of Plumleigh.
Then arose one of those difficulties which often sprang
from the claim made by England to have her flag
saluted on the seas which she called her own.

Wake’s body was received on board The Assurance,
near Boulogne, on the 5th of July. On the 6th the
funeral passed through Calais Roads. The governor
of the town, “pretending a great desire to do the body
honour,” caused all the French vessels in the Roads to
take in their colours. This proceeding was much
objected to by the French commanders; but in acknow-
ledgment of the courtesy, Plumleigh “bestowed some
powder on the French flags,” at which return to their
courtesy, the French captains “grumbled extremely.”
They probably would have preferred that the striking
of their flag should pass unremarked, as if it had not
occurred.

It was otherwise with some Dutch men-of-war.
Their commanders not only shared the sentiments of the
French, but “sent word that they knew nothing why we
should demand any superiority on that side of the sea;
withal threatening to wear their flags there, as well as
we.” Plumleigh’s pride and passion were immediately
aroused. Although there were eight of these men-of-
war, he “sent a cooling card ” to the Dutch Admiral,
and informed him of his, Plumleigh’s, “ resolution,” in
case he (the Dutch Admiral) showed a Dutch flag
there (that is, did not first salute the English ship in
passing), he would sink.him, or sink by him.” This
spirited intimation “caused him to keep his colours
close;” or, in other words, the admiral lowered his flag
while the dead ambassador floated by.

In the reign of Charles IL, another flag affair excited
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universal remark. The king had sent the Earl of
Tssex (Capel) to Denmark, as ambassador. The ship
which conveyed him passed the Fort of Kronenburg,
the governor of which had his sovereign’s order to
compel all foreign ships to salute the Danish flag, before
the latter noticed them. The governor, as Lord Essex
stood near, despatched a message to him, intimating
that he must strike colours as he passed the fort, or
* else he would do well to keep out of his reach, or to
sail by in the night; otherwise, he should have
to call my lord’s attention, first by powder only, and
next by shot.”

Essex proudly replied that the kings of England were
accustomed to make others strike to them, and not to
strike to others; that he would neither keep out of his
reach, nor steal by in the dark ; and that, if fired at, he
would defend himself. And so, colours flying, Capel
sailed by the fort. Then, indeed, the governor did
send a shot, far over Essex’s head, out to sea; but the
ambassador, refusing to believe his life was aimed at or
his king’s honour insulted, took no further notice of it
but as a salute; and as he sailed along, looked into the
books on Danish matters which Cotton had lent him
out of his library ; and thence was enabled to prove to
the Danish Court, that by special treaty we were
exempted from striking our flag in the Danish seas.

Indomitable was the old English pride which asserted
the sovereignty of this country within the narrow seas,
and demanded that all nations should do homage
to the red cross of St. George. One of the most
remarkable instances presents itself in the case of the
French Ambassador Rosny (better known to English
readers as the Duc de Sully) despatched by Henri
Quatre to James I. At six o’clock of a June morn-
ing, in the year 1603, the French Envoy sailed
from Calais on board an English flag-ship, and crossed
the straits escorted by a second English ship, half a
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dozen Dutch galleys, and as many French men-of-war,
under the gallant and saucy Vice-Admiral of France,
Dominique de Vie. During the eight hours occupied
in crossing little more than a score of miles of that
liquid way on a summer’s day, Dominique kept his
flag flying, never once dipping it, as by courtesy, custom,
and the English sovereignty over the road he was
going, he was bound to do. The flag-captain who
carried Rosny as his guest was much vexed at this lack
of politeness on the part of the Frenchman, but the
vexation changed to wrath, when he saw De Vic sailing
into Dover Roads ahead of him, with that flaunting
French banner still gaily flying, undipped, aloft.
Presently De Vie, having landed such of the noble com-
pany as had sailed with him, passed the English flag-ship,
and saluted the ambassador, who stood on the quarter-
deck, with ordnance and by a display of the royal
banner at the main. At this act the ebullition of the
Englishman rose to its height. He ran out his fifty
guns menacingly at De Vic, and fired one at least of
them at the French Admiral ; whether shotted or not,
cannot now be determined ; but the uproar was so
great that Rosny, who had been previously charmed
with the courtesy of the Englishmen with whom he
sailed, was now astonished at their fury, and had
the . greatest trouble in making himself heard, when
endeavouring to explain that De Vic had been intending

~solely to do him honour, that the admiral meant no

offence to the English, and that he, the ambassador,
would give a signal at which the French banner would
be lowered as an act of courtesy to the English flag
floating over its own waters, in the narrow seas.

The English sailor was appeased, but Cecil found it
expedient to write to Sir Thomas Parry, the repre-
sentative of the sovereign of England, at Paris, touching
what he called « the small accident fallen out in Dover
Roads.” ~ After narrating the incidents of the long
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voyage over the brief way, Cecil says, writing on June
10, 1604, that by discharge of cannon the English
captain compelled the admiral “ to strike his flag, which
made M. de Vic return home a little discontentedly.
This,” adds Cecil, “1s the truth of the matter, although
it be not worth speaking of, yet if it be looked into,
we shall have reason to stand upon it.”

No doubt was expressed as to the propriety of
the act on the part of the captain who stood up and
struck hard for the dignity of his country and sovereign
as that of both was then to be maintained. Cecil

would “stand upon it,” and uphold the deed and the-

doer.

Had the fourth Earl of Manchester required it, he
had numerous examples of how the old English cha-
racter and old English privileges were to be maintained ;
and we shall find him doing both with dignity. Before
we come to this, however, we have a few words to
say of his father, Robert, the third earl, of whom
there are but few illustrations among the Kimbolton
papers.

Robert, third Earl of Manchester, who had for hlS
mother Anne, the daughter of Robert Rich, Earl of War-
wick, succeeded his father, to whom Burnet allows, if not
great parts, at least great virtue and generosity, in 1671.
The details of his marriage, when Lord Mandeville, with
Anne Yelverton have been already given. Earl Robert
was not so distinguished in himself, as in his third, but
eldest surviving, son Charles, the first Duke of Man-
chester. Although holding no higher office than one
of the lords of the king’s bedchamber, with an annuity
of 1,000/, he was sufficiently influential to cause his
kinsmen to petition for his favour. One of these,
writing from London, in October 1672, to the earl,
then at Kimbolton, unconsciously illustrates two phases
of character, one of himself, the other of the times.
“Thave writ two letters to your Lordship,” says «Charles
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Montagu,” “but have received no answer, so that I
am afraid they never came to your hands, but I hope
this may, because our ship is all in a readiness, and I
am sure it will not be long before we are ordered out,
therefore I would desire your Lordship that you
would return the money, as soon as possibly your
Lordship can, and I would beg the favour of you to
write to Mr. Worden, that my voyage to Gottenberg
may be stopped, for it is a very base voyage, and I go
under a man’s command who will let nobody get
anything but himself; besides, if he was never so
kind, there is little to be got, so that I hope your
Lordship will use your interest to divert this voyage,
and get me leave to cruise in the Channel, where I am
every day in the way of getting somewhat, for now
that our ship is clean, I doubt not but I shall meet with
some purchase. Pray, my Lord, do your endeavours as
soon as you. can, for I know if your Lordship stirs in it
quickly, you may hinder it, and it may be to my
advantage, and ever engage me to be your Lordship’s
obedient servant.”

The earl, to whom the above singular missive was
despatched, died at Montpelier in France, in the year
1682. He was succeeded by a son whose distinction
was much more brilliantly marked, and whose papers
afford much matter for the gossip and the historian.
Charles, the fourth earl, and first Duke of Manches-
ter, was summoned by writ of James the Second to
take his seat in the House of Peers, in the first year of
that monarch’s reign. The course adopted by that
monarch, however, speedily placed the earl in opposi-
tion so active that he was among the first to prepare the
way for the coming of the Prince of Orange ; to secure
the county of Huntingdon in his interest ; and to render
his accession easy, by voting the throne vacant. The earl
was with king William at the battle of the Boyne, and
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represented him in brilliant embassies at Venice, and at
Paris, as he subsequently represented Queen Anne at
Vienna, and again at Venice. During the latter years
of the queen’s reign he lived in retirement, ill-pleased
with the policy which appeared most acceptable at
court. In 1719, he was raised, by George I. to
the dignity of a Duke. His lordship repaired, almost
rebuilt, Kimbolton Castle, and supported all his embas-
sies with - liberality and independence. At Venice,
we are told in Mr. George Montagu’s book, “he
asserted the English honour by demanding and vigour-
ously insisting on satisfaction for the indignity offered
to his character in the persons of his domestics.” Tt is
unnecessary to speak further here of one whose abilities
are fully illustrated in the following pages. We will
only add that his two sons succeeded in turn to the
ducal title. The wife of the latter of these was the
daughter of that Duchess of Montagu who was daughter
of Sarah Duchess of Marlborough. This last duchess
once remarked : “Duchess of Manchester, you are a
good creature and I love you, but you have a mother!”
“Aye!” was the spirited reply which quieted Sarah,
“and she has a mother !” It was to this Duchess of
Manchester that Richard Lumley, Earl of Scarborough,
in his devoted gallantry, entrusted a state-secret, which
believing her to have divulged, he was so shocked that
he committed suicide.

The purport of Lord Manchester’s mission to Venice,
in 1697 and the following year, was twofold. The
Signory there, and by its captains, elsewhere, had been
inflicting a considerable amount of wrong upon English
subjects. The latter consisted, for the most part, of sail-
ors who had been induced to pass from English merchant
ships into the Venetian navy, on service, the duration of
which was limited, but the expiration of which was per-
manently deferred, so long as the men were profitable
to their employers. ~Oceasionally, our sailors demanded
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their release, or discharged themselves, but in the former
case, the men were silenced by being condemned to the
galleys, and in the latter, harsher treatment still followed
their recapture. A cry came from the sufferers in the
Lagoons to the statesman at Whitehall, and the earl
was despatched to obtain redress for them, in the shape
of satisfaction and liberty. A lesser purport of the
mission was to persuade the Venetian authorities to
materially reduce the duty on salt fish exported from
England.

The newspapers at the close of 1696 gave note of
preparation, and spoke admiringly of the “ state ” which
was to give dignity to William’s representative in
Venice. A letter from the Earl of Manchester to the
Duke of Shrewsbury, dated as below, announces the
arrival of the ambassador in Venice, the view which
he took of things generally, and his opinion on a
small matter of intrigue to which even Venetian nobles
could stoop, in the way of business.

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.

] “VENICE: Jan. 4.
“My Lorp,—I have notified my arrival to the re-
public, which they returned with a compliment, and
shall now settle the manner of my reception, designing
as soon as I can to have my first audience. I cannot but
think they are desirous of showing some proof of the
great honour they have for the King, at least it is said
so; I wish I may find them ready in agreeing to such
things I shall desire in relation to our trade, which our
merchants are of opinion will be also for their good as
well as our own. The Senate have lately made a
severe decree under pain of fine and banishment in
case any of the nobles shall solicit one another for
votes in the choice of any employment whatsoever, it
being come to that degree that several of no sort of
merit was - preferred by that means, which in time



MANCHESTER AND THE DOGE. 29

might prove fatal to their government. I must beg your

Grace will pardon this, since I am sensible how little I -

have from hence to send worth taking notice of, and
believe that I am, with all respect, &c., «M.”

The reception of an ordinary ambassador would
have been a matter of difficulty for none of the masters
of the ceremonies at this very punctilious court. It
was otherwise with an extra-ordinary envoy. The
officials seemed puzzled in deciding whether the latter
was to be made more or less of than a resident am-
bassador. Accordingly the ear]l writes :—

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.
“VENICE: Jan. 10.

“ My Lorp,—I cannot yet acquaint your Grace that
I have made much progress with the College about the
manner of my reception, though it will not be long
now. I find they propose to do all the honour that is
possible or ever hath been done to any king; but the
way they transact here is slow, it being first to be
moved to the Doge and College, and afterwards, before
they can give any answer, it must be debated in the
Pregadi, how trivial soever the matter is. - I understand
underhand that, though they intend to offer to treat
me three days where I desire, yet they would be glad I
would refuse it, as Lord Faulconbridge did when he was
here: the reason is partly the expense, and also not
knowing well the method, it having been so long since
any Ambassador extraordinary was here seen—for none
be sent from other parts but England but to reside, and
in that case they have not that character. I think to
follow the precedent of Lord Faulconbridge, and save
my right, so that it will not be any prejudice to the
character the king hath honoured me with, and make
it as an obligation I do to them, which will be also
‘much easier to me, which I should not consider if it
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was a point essential. I am informed that they intend
to name me for resident in England, which, when I
have my audience, I shall know the certainty of ; if so,
I cannot tell whether his Majesty will not have me also
here, at least for a little time it may be serviceable and
convenient for our commerce. I take the liberty to
mention to your Grace that Mr. Stanyan, secretary of
the embassy, who will be accustomed to their methods
and ways, might be proper and useful. I submit this,
as in all other things, to what your Grace shall think
best, being with all respect imaginable.”

In the subjoined epistle—it is a note rather than a
despatch—we obtain details more picturesque respecting
ambassadorial life at Venice at the close of the seven-
teenth century. External forms were then accounted
sacred things ; and when a new diplomatic comer had
to be welcomed, although there was a parade of
politeness and a stateliness of compliment, each foreign
minister watched his colleague, lest he should be caught
bowing lower than his ambassadorial brother, and
thereby damage the credit of the crown of the potentate
by the too humble salute of his representative. Here,
between the needy legate from France and the cautious
envoy from Spain, the English earl seems to stand very
much like Chavigni between Moreno and Saldorf, in
Scribe’s comedie-vaudeville of the ¢ Diplomate.’

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.
“ VENICE : Jan. 17, 1697.

“ My Lorp,—The last I gave your Grace the trouble
was of the 10th of Jan. from this place, and this is only
that I might not be thought wanting and negligent,
though I have little to acquaint you. The French
ambassador hath acted very civilly, and hath now been
to make me a private visit, which I intend in the same
manner to return. He is Mr. De la Hay, who was
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formerly at Const?mtinople with his father that was
ambassador, and afterwards he had the same character.
He lives here very private, and is esteemed a man of
good parts, though having married a Venetian of mean
condition, and formerly his mistress, hath much lessened
it. I believe his allowance from France must be very
small, else he would not be suffered to make so little a
figure as he doth. T have just now received a compli-
ment from the Spanish with a desire to wait on me. I
believe he was willing to see the steps the French
made;-he having been here these thirteen years. I have
met with some disappointments in relation to my gon-
dolas, which I make new: by the orders I had given
I did imagine they would have been done before I
came hither, but I have found the contrary. I shall
make my entry as soon as I can possible. I under-
stand from Mr. Yard your Grace hath received mine
from Hamburgh, and that you are now in the country,
where I hope you will find that effect which is desired
by all that hath the honour to know you, and especially
by him who is, &e. ~ «M.”

Under the pretext of rendering all possible honour to
the representative of King William, the very aristocratic
Venetian government did not disdain to make a little
profit out of him, if possible. The question of his entry
was a nice one, and the authorities hoped to make the
hero of that public, and then indispensable, spectacle
contribute not merely to the dignity of his own country
but to the coffers of theirs. In these days ambassadors
proceed to and from their posts like men of business, but
of old an envoy could not settle a question of infringe-
ment and of a duty on salt-fish without making his first
steps in solemn state. This, indeed, was as much the
case at home as on the continent. There was a relish
everywhere for public spectacles, let the purpose be
what it might ; and at that very time a Knight of the
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Garter could not be made in England, creditably, with-
out a procession of the chevalier elect and all his
supporters, from London to Windsor, which set all the
balladmongers in prosperity for a month, and gave
subject of talk to all who beheld the sight for a
lifetime.

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.
“ VENICE: Jan. $4.

“ My Lorp,—I did intend to have given your Grace
an account that next Tuesday was the day agreed be-
tween me and the College to make my entry; but just
now I received a compliment from Mr. Venier, who is
appointed to receive me, that it would be a great favour
if I would defer it for some days longer. I could make
1o other answer to him but that, having fixed the day
with the College, I could not alter it unless they did let
me understand from them it was their desire. He is
one of them, and I suppose I shall be obliged to put it
off. It is not to be imagined, the little policies they
have here for the benefit of their town, I havmg been
delayed in all my preparations as much as is possible
with several messages underhand, how it would be more
for my honour if T would defer it till Lent, only in
hopes of keeping all the strangers here some time
longer. They have been under some fear lest I should
not refuse their offer of being lodged and treated as
formerly usual, and would have had me declare my
intention before as Lord Faulconbridge did, but I
thought it time enough to let them know my mind after
‘they had made the offer. Accordingly they proceeded
-only on the account that I was not willing to put them
to so much expense, the republic having been long
engaged in a war, which not a little obliged them. The
Spanish ambassador, who is the Duke de Moles, a
Neapolitan, hath been to make me a visit which I have
also returned.  He is not in the least of the humour of
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a Spaniard, but hath done all the obliging things that
was possible. T understand this republic did not know
well how to act in relation to the King of Poland ; but I
believe the difficulty will be soon over, by reason the
Pope hath now owned him, and a nuntio is named to
that purpose to go to Poland. General S is come
from the Morea, and is disgusted, so hath asked his
leave to quit their service. It is uncertain whether it

will be granted, by reason the Venetians will find it

difficult to have another of such experience by the next
campaign. I fear I shall be too troublesome, and so
only assure you that I am, with all respect, your
Lordship’s ML

The Duke of St. Albans, mentioned in the next
letter, was the son of Charles II. and Nell Gwynn;
and subsequently the lucky husband of Diana Vere,
daughter of the twentieth and last Earl of Oxford of
the De Vere family. When the following letter was
written, the duke was twenty-seven years of age, and
Nell’s son had achieved a high reputation. At the age
of eighteen he took share in the famous assault on
Belgrade, winning by his youthful valour the praise of
veterans. Since then he had fought as ardently and
well by the side of the calmer but not braver William
of Orange, of whom he was a warm supporter from the
first; and who, in return, loaded him with honours
which the gallant recipient never tarnished.

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.
“VENICE: Jan. 31.
“My Lorp,—The weather hath continued so bad,
that I was obliged to put off my entry as last Tuesday,
being to be received out of Venice at an island,
whenever there is great winds there is no going, but I
hope there is nothing will prevent it next Monday. I
shall soon see what the Republic in relation to our
VOL. II D
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merchants will do ; the news of the last post that the
king was sending a squadron of nineteen men of war
into the Mediterranean will have very good effect all
over Italy as well as this place, and it is what will
make his Majesty have justice done him whenever it
is demanded. I understand the Duke of St. Albans is
gone to make a compliment upon the marriage of the
Duke of Burgundy; I cannot tell if his Majesty had
thoughts of doing the same to the Duke of Savoy ; if
so, at my return I might have that honour with less
expense than sending one from England; therefore,

your Grace, I shall submit myself wholly to what you

shall think most proper and convenient.”

The Duke of St. Albans performed his mission with
a grace and splendour which exacted the admiration
of the court of France, under the shadow of which was
residing the exiled uncle of the duke, James IIL. * But
we must turn from the Whig son of Nelly, who lived
to receive honours from George 1L, to Lord Man-
chester, who thus writes:—

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.
« Vexice : Feb. 7, 1697,

“ My Lorp, — My last of the 31st Jan., I acquainted
your Grace that by reason of the ill weather, my
entry was put off till Monday 3rd this style, which
day I was received at St. Spirito by Mr. Venier,
accompanied by about fifty senators. The next I was

to have my audience, but so much rain fell that it was

deferred till Wednesday, when I went in the like
manner; I have sent your Grace the compliment I
made them, and also their answer, which I was at the
College to receive this day; my first audience the
Doge answered me in general terms with great respect
to the king, and I believe they are very desirous to have
his Majesty’s friendship. ~The manner of my re-

-



MANCHESTER LEAVES VENICE. 35

ception Mr. Stanyan will send an account of. T shall
now soon lay before them those matters relating to our
trade ; and also, what I have further in my instructions,
which I shall trouble your Grace with as I proceed.”

Promises formed all, save acts of politeness, that
could be exacted from the slow-going Doge and the
College, which body would rather suffer disadvantage
to the Republic than an infraction of routine. The
next letter announces the close of a mission which cost
so much and effected so little, save sustaining the
dignity of England in the person of her ambassador.

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.
“ VENICE : March 2.

““ My Lorp,—1I had the honour of your Grace’s the
12th Feb., where I understand his Majesty has no
thoughts of sending to the Duke of Savoy ; I have now
taken my leave, and nothing hinders me from beginning
my journey but the indisposition of my brother, tho’ I
hope it will not be long. I send your Grace a copy of
my speech, and also their answer, which is full of
expressions for his Majesty, and I believe they are real ;
but anything that is desired, though for their own ad-
vantage, that is not agreeable to their old customs,
always met with great opposition, which at my
return I can better inform your Grace. I believe this
embassy will have that good effect as to make them
use the king’s subjects better than they have done, and
as further applications are made, those matters re-
lating to our trade may possibly be obtained ; the way
being here to act so cautiously as never to come soon
to any resolution ; which may prove sometimes very
prejudicial to their state. I am glad your Grace’s
health will permit you to come to town. I am, with
all respect, _ |

Lord Manchester’s brother, Heneage, who was
D2
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master of the jewel office, and an attaché to the mission
to Venice, died in that city. Soon after that event
occurred, the earl directed his steps homeward, and the
next two letters are graphie notes, made by the way.

LORD MANCHESTER TO THE DUKE OF SHREWSBURY.

“Lyoxs: May 4, N. S.

“ My Lorp,—The concern I was under by the
death of my brother was the reason I did not acquaint
your Grace myself of my leaving Venice. I am now
come so far on my way as Lyons, having made no stay
either at Milan or Turin, and have had but an ill journey
by the great snows that was on the Alps; to-morrow I
leave this place for Paris, and then soon shall think of
coming to England, when I shall always acknowledge
your Grace’s kindnesses and favours to me.

“T find in all these parts a discourse of a new war,
the King of Spain not being likely to live long ; the
Duke of Savoy is encouraging his forces, by adding ten
men to every company, and a company also to every
regiment, so that then he will have about 12,000 men.
Several regiments pass here, and it is said they are to
encamp soon on the river between Chambery and
Valence ; the Prince of Vaudemont was gone for
Avignon before I came from thence; he intends for
Monaco by land.  The last letter says your Grace was
at Newmarket with his Majesty ; I wish the air may
contribute to your health. I am,my Lord, yours,

“M.”

LORD MANCHESTER TO MR. YARD,
« Parts: May 8, 1698, O. S.
«“To MR. YaRD,—I am at last come to Paris where 1
intend to stay only so long as that I may have a yacht
ready at Calais, which I desire the favour you will
acquaint his Majesty, and that you will be pleased to

‘get it ordered. I should be glad if it is convenient to _

N
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have The Mary which carried me into Holland. Ihave
acquainted his Grace also, but least he should not be in
town Lam forced to give you this trouble. Our journey
to this place was very unpleasant, having had ill weather,
and on the Alps much snow. I do not pretend to send
you anything from hence, only the number of English
which are here, and their way of living, will convince
the French there is no want of money in England, or
that we were not able to have carried on the war.
Never people was so miserably poor as I have found all
through France, and so unreasonable in their demands
wherever they meet with strangers. Their vineyards
are all destroyed by the frost, and their corn not, but
indifferent. I am yours,
(33 M.”

To these details may be added an episode with which
Lord Manchester had to deal, when at Venice, though
whether successfully or not, does not appear from these
papers. The defunct hero of the episode, Sir William
Godolphin, was English Ambassador in Spain, when
Titus Oates was making his revelations, among which
was one to the effect that the Pope had pronounced
England to be his own heritage, and that among the
administrators named by the pontiff for the govern-
ment of this papal annex, he had appointed Sir
William Godolphin to the not onerous office of Lord
Privy Seal. Whatever falsehood there may have been
in this assertion, it is certain that Sir William, who had
property broad-cast over Europg, remained in Spain,
and there ultimately died. How he was appreciated
there by the zealous members of that Church to which
he had become a convert is curiously illustrated in the
paper of instructions presented to Lord Manchester.
There are no such expert will-makers as those of the
class here represented, and who in this instance were
collected round a dying man who declares that hissoul
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is his heir, and that his ghostly fathers shall make a will
for him, after his death, which shall benefit that soul—
and, of course, the Church which has the charge of it.
The details, however, are best told in the annexed
paper, acting on which information we can only hope
that Lord Manchester was able to prove, at least to the
government of Venice, in which state Sir William
Godolphin held property, that however a man’s soul
might be affected by his virtues or his vices, it could
lay no claim whatever to the enjoyment of his assets :—
“«S8ir William Godolphin, who has been formerly
ambassador from this crown to the Court of Spain, con-
tinued at Madrid many years after the determination of
his mission, and there died 11th July ’96, leaving an
estate in England, Spain, Venice, Rome and Amsterdam
to the value of near 80,000/ sterling, in the whole
whereof not above a fourth part was in England.
On the 30th March 1696, being surrounded by
priests and jesuits as he lay bedrid, a public notary
was sent for, and an act passed but not signed by
his own hand, wherein is signified that four per-
sons, naming them (whereof three were priests),
should be his testamentaries to make a will for him
after his death, giving to each of them in this instrument
a legacy and certain sums for masses and other such
uses, adding two other persons to be joined with the
former, four to execute the will, which should be made
after his death by the four for the good of his soul,
which he declared his universal heir. Some months
after this and very few days before he died, that is
toward the latter end of June old style, he made another
will wherein he gives legacies to some of his relations
in England, and then dies. This last will only has
been duly proved, and administration of all the goods
of the deceased granted with this testamentary dis-
position annexed to the two principal legatees, Francis

Godolphin and Elizabeth Godolphin his sister, who, as
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the only next of kin in equal degree to Sir William,
are entitled, according to the constitution of England, to
divide the whole residue of this estate not actually given
by him, though the notarial act of the 30th March
should be admitted to be a good will, which therefore we
do not think it necessary to contest as revoked by ours
(wherein the Venetian lawyers seem to lay their stress),
but that they may consist with each other and yet not
1 of the whole estate actually glven by both of them
together. So that the question is whether the residuary
part to which the soul is declared heir by the notarial
act of the 30th March shall for so much as is at Venice
(being about 20,0000 sterling) be left to the discre-
tionary disposition of the priests by a will to be made
by them after the death of the party contrary to all
Constitutions but a modern practice in Spain only.
Or whether the right heirs shallbe entitled to the residue
at Venice, allowing such proportion for charities as shall
be thought reasonable. Concerning which this said
Sir William, in a will all written with his own hand just
before he went out of England, and yet remaining
uncancelled, specified his intentions for disposing a con-
siderable sum so designed by him as followeth : viz. to
provide for the education and maintenance of poor
scholars, the relief of decayed virtuous gentlemen, the
redemption of prisoners, the placing out poor children
to trades, leaving his brother (who was father of the
present claimants) executor in the said will, and joined
Dr. Jell, Dr. Atherton, Sir Philip Warwick and Secretary
Cooke with him as trustees for the said charitable
designation.

“ And a determination in favour of the right heirs
will seem more reasonable in this case when it shall
appear that near half of this whole estate will be subject
to the Spanish mode of a posthumous will, and this
executed by testamentaries in favour of their own body
rather than to answer the testator’s intentions for his
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soul, there being given 3,000 pistoles to the sister of
one of the testamentaries by the will which they have
made five months after Sir William’s death, besides
many other great gifts to others of their own relations,
at the same time that they hinder the testator’s relations
from receiving their just legacies. Wherefore it is
humbly prayed that the Earl of Manchester may be
authorised to employ his offices at Venice, for a solemn
hearing of this cause, in order to preserve so much of
this estate as is in the Bank of Venice from being taken
from the subjects of England by such artifice of the
Spanish priests as the Venetian constitution would by
no means suffer to be practised in their own dommmn
or upon any of their own subjects.”

In the following letter, named with less noble men,
mention is made of the Earl of Orford. Admiral
William Russell had but recently received that title, and
with it the distinction of Viscount Barfleur. This great
admiral was the first Englishman who derived a title
from foreign territory, for conquest there achieved.
Russell was a rough sailor, unstable, one who had been
well recompensed for services in furtherance of the
revolution, but who was apt to believe that his services
were, after all, but inadequately rewarded. He was the
hero of that five days’ conflict which commenced off
Barfleur and terminated at La Hogue—and which
served to convince James that Russell was a more
thorough Whig than he believed him to be, and that
an English fleet was an insuperable obstacle to a Jacobite
triumph. The conqueror of Tourville, however, was
neither a favourite with the king, nor popular with the
nation, till a few years later, when he introduced many
useful reforms into the administration of the navy,
compelled the French to leave Catalonia, and carried

-the English flag aloft, undisputed master of the Medi-

terranean. The Middlesex electors cheered him as he
appeared on the balcony of his house which, now Evans’s
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Hotel, still overlooks Covent Garden. King William
raised the childless and grumbling old sailor to the title
of Earl of Orford, and having enriched him by territory
as well as ennobled him by territorial title, went to
diné with him whom the king over the water had, at
one time, nearly seduced into his service. Leke, L01d
Scarsdale, was the third and last lord but one of that
family, whose Jacobite tendencies are evidenced by his
shyness of court.

MR. YARD TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.
“ NEWMAREET : April 8, 1698,

“ My LORD —The king came hither on Monday last,
and has since passed his time in hunting and the other
diversions of the place. Yesterday the king’s plate, of
1007 value, was run for, and Sir John Parsons (the
brewer) got it; after which a race was run between
the two horses called Hauboy and Quamtam, the first
belonging to Mr. Harvey and the other to Mr. Bow, and
the last won. To:morrow the king dines at my Lord
Orford’s, at Chippenham, about three miles off. * T do
not yet hear how long our stay is like to be in this
place, where my lord Duke of Shrewsbury arrived
yesterday from Woburn, his spitting of blood con-
tinuing very much.

“ We have a good deal of company here. I wel-
comed the other day above twenty noblemen, my Lord
Scarsdale one of them, who appears in the town, and
had yesterday a horse run for the plate, but does not
come to Court. Your Lordship will have an account
in the news Mr. Stanyan receives from our office, that
it was endeavoured yesterday in the House of Commons
. to have had Mr. Knight and Mr. Burton admitted to
bail, which was moved by Mr. Harvey and seconded
by Sir Edward Seymour —but they could not effect
their aims, which was to have got these two bailed
first that they might afterwards have done the same
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CHAPTER IIL

LAST YEARS OF KING WILLIAM,

N the year 1699 there was a lull of arms, and once
hostile powers, now simulating friendship, were
congratulating each other on the pleasant advent of
peace. In special celebration of this long-desired con-
summation, the Earl of Manchester was deputed to
carry the good wishes of William to Louis XIV., and to
watch narrowly the possible evil intentions of that
sovereign and his ministers. The note of preparation
sounded long and loudly before the departure of the
ambassador, who carried with him every means and ap-
pliance to give lustre to the occasion, and to support
the dignity of the English crown and nation in France.
Among other things the gold and silver-gilt adornments
hired by the earl for the furnishing the ambassadorial
chapel in Paris exeited remark and admiration. There
went with him the retinue of a prince, and carriages
such as his royal master had not often taken his ease in.
The instructions under which he acted are curious
and precise, and may be fittingly given here, though
there were doubtless other rules and regulations whereby
the ambassador directed his course, the usefulness
of which will be seen hereafter.  Meanwhile, here are
the specific commands he was to obey :—
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[ Instructions for our right trusty and
well-beloved cousin and counsellor,
Charles Earl of Manchester, whom
we have appointed our Ambassador-
“ WILLIAM R. 4 Extraordinary to our good brother
the most Christian King. Given at
our Court at Kensington, 30th day
of May 1699, in the 11 year of our
reign.

« Having received these instructions with your letters
of credence, you shall, with all convenient speed, repair
to Paris or such other place where the most Christian
King shall keep his court, and as soon as you are ready
for it, you shall ask an audience in our name ; at which,
having delivered your credentials, you shall declare to
him the great satisfaction we have in seeing the war,
which has afflicted Europe for so many years, brought
to an end, and our earnest desire that the peace may
be durable and lasting. You shall more particularly
acquaint him with the value and esteem we have for
his person and friendship, and how ready we shall
always be to preserve and cultivate the good corre-
spondence so happily renewed between us and our
dominions.

“ You shall likewise desire audience of the Dauphin,
and deliver him our letter, accompanying the same
with a suitable compliment, which you shall likewise
make in our name to the rest of the princes of the
blood, according to the style and practice of that Court,
taking care at your audiences and on all other occasions
to maintain-our dignity, and that you be treated with
all the honour and respect that are given to the Extra-
ordinary-Ambassadors of Spain and other crowned
heads.

“You shall carefully observe the motions and inten-
tions of that Court with respect to any design they may
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have against us or our dominions, as well as against
any other of their neighbours.  You shall observe their
inclinations in relation to the present state of affairs
abroad—whether they are entering into any leagues
or engagements with other princes, especially such as
may be prejudicial to the peace which is so happily
established in christendom.

“You shall entertain a good correspondence and
intercourse with the Ambassadors and Ministers of all
princes and states in amity with us, residing at the
French Court, and particularly with those of the States
General of the United Provinces. You shall on all
occasions protect and countenance our merchants trading
to any of the territories of the most Christian King, and
use your endeavours to obtain relief for them upon any
just complaints they shall make to you, and to procure
the restitution of such privileges and immunities as they
formerly enjoyed.

“ Whereas our royal uncle, King Charles the Second,
did by an order in Council, bearing date the 26th day
of August 1668, direct his ambassadors not to give the
hand in their own houses to envoys, in pursuance of
what was practised by ambassadors of other princes,
and the same having been ever since observed, we
think fit to repeat this direction to you, not to give the
hand to any envoy in your own house.

“Of all matters you shall be informed of, during
your embassy, which may be of consequence and worthy
our knowledge, you shall constantly give an account to
us by one of our principal secretaries of state, from
whom you will receive such further instructions and
directions as we shall think fit to send you, which you
are to observe accordingly.

“ At your return from your embassy, we shall expect
from you a particular account and narration of what
hath happened remarkably in that Court during your
continuance there, with relation to the abilities and
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affections of the French ministers, their interests, mutual
correspondences and differences one with another. Their
inclinations to foreign princes and states, together with
all such other observations as you shall be able to make
which may contribute to inform us of the present con-
dition of that government and kingdom.

V. R

Before we proceed to gather extracts from the
ambassador’s letters to his own court, we will insert
copies of a few received by him from ministers, secre-
taries, and friends at home, but to which his replies do
not appear in the Kimbolton papers. First, here is
one from Lord Jersey, which shows how the liberty of
oppressed Englishmen was vindicated by the Govern-
ment, and how jealous that Government was of any
suspicious movements in Scotland.

LORD JERSEY TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“ WHITEHALL: Aug. 28, 1699,

“My Lorp,—I have the favour of your Lordship’s
letter of the 4% Aug., with the enclosed paper, con-
taining heads of matters about which you had spoken
to M. Torcy. I cannot but believe M. Torcy knows
what is done to Arnold ; but since he pretends to have
no knowledge of it, I think your Lordship does well to
continue your enquiry concerning him in order to
procure him his liberty.

“I remember I did speak about Sadler, and was
answered he should have leave to go out of the kingdom,
which I wonder he does not accept of rather than live
under such persecution.

“I conclude Mr. William Fleming has by this time
been with your Lordship to acquaint you with the state
of the matter concerning himself, his wife and sister.

As to the complaint his Majesty has ordered you to

e



POLITICS AT HOME. 47

make about the twelve protestants that were taken by
a French sloop armed, at Bayonne, out of an English
ship bound home from St. Sebastian, all the information
I can further give your Lordship is by sending you the
enclosed paper, which was presented to the ILords
Justices, who looked upon it as a thing of so extra-
ordinary nature, that they thought fit to lay it before
the king for his particuldr directions.

“T have received information that there are frequent
meetings in Scotland of persons disaffected to his
Magesty s Government, and that they have actually two
deputies at St. Germains, and that one who had the
same employment is lately dead at Paris. This advice
is very general, and perhaps not much to be depended
upon ; however, I thought it proper to give your Lord-
ship this notice that you may make what enquiries you
can concerning the Scotch having any deputies at St.
Germains.

I have nothing to trouble your Lordship with con-
cerning any of the other particulars mentioned in your
last ‘letter. I am, with all respect, my Lord, your

Lordship’s most obedient humble servant,
“ JERSEY.”

Just a year before the following letter was addressed
(by Mr. Yard, secretary) to Lord Manchester, the
famous and luckless Scottish company had sent fifty
ships and 1,200 men to make a settlement on the
Isthmus of Darien. Of the sudden breaking up of such
an establishment, it was thought necessary to transmit
intelligence to the English ambassador at Paris—as
such a number of Scotsmen, disappointed and lacking
means, might become instruments of mischief.

MR. YARD TO LORD MANCHESTER.
« WHITEHALL : Sept. 14, 1699.
“ My LorD,— . . . This morning came in letters
from Sir William Beeston, Governor of Jamaica, dated
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10th of this month. He writes that by a vessel arrived
there the day before from the Spanish coasts, he was
advised that the Scotch have wholly deserted the settle-
ment at Caledonia, in the country of Darin, and went
from thence about the-24th of May; but whither, he
could not hear or guess, unless they are gone to
disperse themselves among the northern plantations;
for they had not provisions to carry them to Scotland.
‘What should induce them to so sudden a remove is also
uncertain: ’tis true the Spaniards had called the
Barloavente fleet to Carthagena, and they were pre-
paring to carry a considerable strength against the
Scots ; so that, whether ’t was the apprehension of this
or the want of victuals that obliged them to take this
resolution, is unknown. This is so considerable a piece
of news that I would not omit giving your Lordship
this account of it.”

Concerning Charles, Duke of Shrewsbury, noticed in
the following letter from Mr. Secretary Vernon, thefather
of the Portobello Admiral, of King George’s days, we
shall have occasion to speak in a future page. At the
time this letter was written, the « King of Hearts” had
been Lord Chamberlain of the Household about a
month. The references to the army are important.
In the previous December, the Commons had resolved
that the forces maintained in England should not exceed
7,000 men, and that these should be born Englishmen.
This resolution offended William, as it was directed
against the continuance here of his Dutch Guard. Like
a constitutional king, however, he expressed to the
House his readiness to transport them forthwith to
Holland ; adding, however, that he would take it very
kindly of the Commons if they would only find some
cause to enable him to retain near him, or at least in
the country, these his old companions in arms. Within
a week, the Commons formally announced to him their
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reasons for not complying with his message, and their
eonvictions that keeping up a foreign force in this
country was altogether contrary to the constitution.

There is a mixture of domestic and political news in
this letter. The Lady Cutts, whose death is here noticed,
was the wife of one of the bravest men of his day—
Jack Cutts—-the Lord Cutts (Baron Gowran, in Ireland)
of whom the 5th regiment of the line has good reason
to be proud. This gallant fellow was with William at
the Boyne, took share in the expedition to Brest,
stormed the pallisades at Namur, had a hundred times
looked on death, unmoved, but was now in a frenzy of
grief at one death which touched him nearly. Marl-
borough called him the Salamander, from his coming
scatheless out of a most tremendous action with part of
the French army.

SECRETARY VERNON TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.
& “ WHITEHALL : Sep. 26, *99.

“My Lorp,—I would not trouble your Excellency
oftener than I think there is a plausible occasion for it.
But T ought not to omit acquainting you that my Lord
Duke is'upon the point of returning into the country
again. Ie hath stayed longer here than was proper
for one in his condition, who spits blood by fits, and
constantly finds a great oppression on his lungs in the
night, which obliges him at this time of the year to
throw open the windows for a little breath. He hath
done what he could that-he might leave the town and
his employment together, since neither of them agree
with his health. But his master, not liking he should
part with the Seals till he hath the offer of something
else that may be more easy and agreeable, hath obliged
him to hold the office, though he dispenses with the
execution of it this winter, and, accordingly, he thinks
of going out of town on Monday next. There will be
left here a company of useless tools when the master
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workman 1s gone; all the office will serve for is to have
a conveniency in 1t for sending your Excellency some
parliament news, and I wish it may be such as you
will like. Some have already employed their pens in
writing a pamphlet against a standing army, as not in
the least to be borne by a free people ; they would allow
nothing to be kept on foot except your Excellency’s
yeomen of the guard, and a country militia under new
regulations such as would not leave us either a soldier
or a ploughman in England, but some awkward crea-
tures between both. Yet I suppose this opinion will
be strongly supported, but I hope the reasons of safety
may be the most prevalent.

“We do not go on with disbanding the ten regi-
ments, as was once thought of, but we are turning it
into a reform, by keeping up the officers and reducing
the numbers of men, which many are well enough
disposed to, provided the people they must pay are of
their own nation. Our purses will not hold out to
maintain all, and to give any preference to strangers
appears to some of very hard digestion.

“The king hath had a spice of the gout this week,
or something very like it, having had a pain in his knee
with his swelling, but it is now pretty well over; it is
the only distemper he can have that will not disturb
us. I suppose your Excellency heard by the last post
of Lady Cutts’ death. She died that day in childbed
of a daughter, which they say was brought dead into
the world : he makes a passionate widower. The Earl
of Jersey was sworn yesterday of the Privy Council.

“ My Lord Portland talks of going on his embassy
within & month.

“I am, with great respect, my Lord, your Excel-
leney’s mmost obedient and faithful servant,

¢“J. VERNON.”

The annexed fragment of an unsigned letter refers to
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a foreign would-be regicide who had volunteered to
kill King William. The French government had clapt
the Itahan bravo and assassin in the Bastille.

TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“VENICE : Oct. 3, 1699.

“My Lorp,— . . . Applications have been made
unto me, and also I suppose unto several of your Lord-
ship’s friends here, to intercede with your Excellency to
befriend the Count Boscoli, that he may be released
from the Bastile ; but as I absolutely refused to trouble
you thereabout, so I hope others may do the like, he
being a notorious evil person that hath done many wicked
and villanous things in this his native country, and in
several other states of Italy also, insomuch that he is
banished from them, and he hath offered his endeavours
unto the French and St. Germains courts to kill our
king : for which reason, my Lord Jersey procured him
to be more strictly confined and observed, as I suppose
your Excellency may be informed, and have some
instructions to watch him also, lest he commit more
evil. His mother and wife, with other relations, by
this may be at Paris, to use all the efforts they can for
him ; but T suppose this state does not desire he should
have his liberty, neither do I think your Excellency
will favour it, now you know the circumstances.

“T have notified from time to time unto the secretary
of state what I could learn concerning this Count
Boscoli, and the first notice of his villanous design
was sent from hence.”

With this, will contrast a gossiping letter from Mat.
Prior, the poet, who had recently been secretary to the
Earl of Portland’s embassy, in Paris.

MATHEW PRIOR TO LORD MANCHESTER.
¢ LownpoxN: Nov. 15, 1699.
“My Lorp—I arrived here on Friday night, and
E 2

CHAP.
III1.



CHAP.

III.

52 COURT AND SOCIETY.

everybody confesses that only Roger is fitter than I to
be sent express. On Saturday morning my TLord
Jersey carried me to the King. I first read to his
Majesty what your Lordship said to the King of France
and what the king answered thereupon, and then
I explained to his Majesty the substance of the
whole that had passed during my being in France.
His Majesty is satisfied with every step your Excellency
made, and in one word, we did as we ought to
do. His Majesty asked me a great many questions
about your entry; you may believe I was glad on
this occasion to do you justice. His Majesty asked me
about the rank M. de Torcy’s coach had, and in all
this affair I can assure your Excellency he is very
well satisfied. T have seen as well Charles as James
Erby, and Christopher Montagu; I have been asked
ten thousand questions, and gave them the news of
my Lord Mandeville being to arrive at Paris within
this six months, for which we all wish very heartily.
T contracted a cold in the voyage, and wisely increased
it by running about these two last days. I am blooded
and keep my chamber to-day, which is the reason of
my using another hand, I hope your Excellency will
excuse it. The king dines to-day with my Lord
Rochester at his house near Richmond; my Lord
Jersey is gone to dine with him. Whig and Tory are, as
of old, implacable. Doctor Davenant is coming up with
another book in which he attacks the Grants, and is
(as T am told) very scurrilous upon my Lord Chan-
cellor and our dear friend Charles. This is I think all
the news I have known since my arrival. I have only
to add my great thanks to your Excellence for your
hospitality and kindness to me in France, and wish you
success in everything there with all possible zeal and
sincerity. I am ever, my Lord, your Excellency’s most
obedient and humble servant,
“ M. Prior.”
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The Lord Rochester of the above letter was Lawrence
Hyde, second son of the Earl of Clarendon,and younger
brother of that Henry Hyde who loved literature
and literary men, and expended a hundred thousand
pounds in the formation of a library; Lawrence and
Henry were the sons whom Clarendon recommended to
the charity of Charles IL, as children of a father who
had never committed offence against the king. Dr. Da-
venant, to whom allusion is made in Prior’s letter, was
the son of the dramatist. He was a noted political
writer, and the grants against which he now inveighed
were those of forfeited estates in Ireland, to Romney,
Albemarle, Portland, Athlone, Galway, and of the
private estate of King James, amounting to .nearly
96,000 acres, worth about 26,000L a-year, to Elizabeth
Villiers, Countess of Orkney, the ill-favoured mistress of
William.

For pure unadulterated gossip, however, the fol-
lowing letter, endorsed “from Mr. Vanbrook ” (after-
wards Sir John Vanbrugh), the architect and comic
writer—the builder of Blenheim and author of the
¢ Provoked Wife ’—excels Prior’s :— , '

SIR JOHN VANBRUGH TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“ Loxpox : December 25, 1699.

« My Lorp,—if I could think of any way to make
my letters either useful or entertaining to your Lord-
ship, I would write to you oftener; but as to all
Parliamentary affairs, or anything that relates to
business, no doubt but you have a more exact cor-
respondent than I can be, and for town affairs my
Lady, to be sure, has’em from hers, so that there’s very
little left for me to say to you; however, I think I
should be to blame if I did not write something or
other, that your Lordship might not suspect I have
forgot I am obliged to you. The heat of this session
seems much abated, since the battle Jack How and
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his admirers have had in the attack upon the com-
mission against Pyrates. It has opened the eyes of a
great many well-meaning gentlemen of the country
party, who, by this infamous prosecution, account they
ought to look upon him more as a discontented courtier
than a patriot; and as in this vote they left him, so
abundance of ’em, now they are ashamed of him, as he
declares he is of them, swearing there never was before
such a crew of rogues as this Parliament. He had
great hopes of ’em last sessions, he says, but now he
gives ’em over. T was very happy that in this question
the majority was so great, it left no room to pretend
the court brought off the courtiers; but (it) ev1dent1y
appeared, the justice of their cause preserved em, and
made a great many vote ’em innocent, who would have
been heartily glad they could have found ’em guilty.
The Irish Grants have gone smoothly hitherto. The
report the Commissioners gave in was the clearest and
most exact thing of the kind that had been done, and
all parties in the House seemed wonderful pleased with
it ; Mr. Montagu spoke very frankly for the Bill, and
said his concern in the matter should be far from in-
fluencing him, and that nobody should be more for the
passing of it than he. Several of those Grants are
found prodigious great; my Lord Portland’s is a hun-
dred and forty thousand acres, and my Lord Albemarle’s
as much. There was in the article that related to my
Lord Romney several items with him ; three of the
Commissioners refused to sign to this part of the report
as an unnecessary personal reflection, but the rest
would have it in for the jest’s sake to put the House of
Commons into good humour ; which it did, for every-
one laughed very heartily. Poor Sir John Phillips was

. sent for out of the House t’ other day into Westminster

Hall and cudgelled, which he took with the patience
of an apostle, went again into the House, told ’em how
he had been served, declared his eonscience would not
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let him fight, and desired they would take the quarrel
upon them, which they did, and have ordered the
assailant into custody. 'T was one Harcourt did it
upon a lawsuit between ’em, not as a champion for
immorality, and profaneness, as your Lordship would
be apt to imagine, if I did not tell you the contrary.

“Neal’s dead ; the last word he muttered was ¢ Salis-
bury.” They say he has made her sole executrix; I
don’t know whether it be true. Mr. Newton is like to
have his place in the Mint.

“Miss Evans, the dancer at the new playhouse, is
dead too; a fever slew her in eight and forty hours.
She ’s much lamented by the town as well as by the
house, which can’t well bear her loss, matters running
very low with ’em this winter. If Congreve’s play don’t
help ’em they are undone. 'Tis a comedy, and will
be played about six weeks hence. Nobody has seen
it yet.

“ Leveridge isin Ireland. He owes so much money he
dare not come over, so for want of him we ha’n’t had
any opera played this winter, tho’ Purcell has set one
new one, and Fingar another. We have got the woman
from the Cheshire Cheese upon the stage, who has the
best voice for’t by much that has been there at any
time. We have ‘the Emperor’s crooked eunuch here,
Francisco (Senesino); they give him a hundred and
twenty guineas for five times. He has sung once and

was well liked. Dogget was here last week ; they gave
him thirty pounds to act six times, which he did, and
filled the house each time.

“ My Lady Arglass, having been for some time under
strong suspicions for pocketing some small goods, by
the by, in shops, was t’ other day catch’t stealing 4 or
5 fans at Mrs. Toomes (Thomes’s), who made her re-
fund just as she was getting into her coach. The
mob presently gathered about and made noise enough.
My Lady Dartmouth was with her, and Lady Betty
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Cromwell, who is sick upon’t, and keeps house. This
thing is seriously true.

“T have been this summer at my Lord Carlisle’s, and
seen most of the great houses in the north—as Lord
Nottingham’s, Duke of Leeds’, Chatsworth, etc. I stayed
at Chatsworth four or five days, the duke being there.
I showed him all my Lord Carlisle’s designs, which he
sald was quite another thing than what he imagined
from the character your Lordship gave him on’t. He
absolutely approved the whole design, particularly the
low wings, which he said would have an admirable
effect without doors as well as within, being adorned
with those ornaments of pilasters and urns, which.he
never thought of, but concluded ’t was to be a plain
low building like an orange-house. There has been a
great many critics consulted upon it since, and no one
objection being made to it, the stone is raising and the
foundation will be laid in the spring. The model is
preparing in wood, which, when done, is to travel to
Kensington, where the king’s thoughts upon’t are to be
had. I don't find the Duke of Leeds thinks of giving
Mr. M. any trouble about his place; at least he talks as
if he would not, laying it upon the small dessert of his
son, who he says does not merit his help in it. The
Duchess was overturned some time ago coming from
Wimbleton by torchlight, and so desperately bruised,
she has been at the brink of death with it, but is
beyond expectation recovered to plague her husband,
her son, and many others, some time longer. Before I
end my letter I must congratulate your Lordship upon
your success in wonderfully obliging all the English
who have been at Paris since your coming there, which
upon my word I take to be no easy matter. But you
have done it effectually; for one and all speak of it,
and everybody here is glad to hear on’t. I remember
you used to speak of it, but I thought it easier intended
than executed. I am heartily glad, however,it suc-
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ceeds, nobody wishing more heartily your Lordship
may come off with reputation, than ;your much obliged

and faithful humble servant,
«J. VANBROOK.

¢ Shrimpton is wedded to Mrs. Saunders, and Henly
is near the matter with his first cousin, old Perigrine’s
youngest daughter—a mettled jade.

“Pray, my Lord, my humble service to my Lady,
who I am heartily glad to hear has her health better
than at first. Lord Carberry toasts her with an ex-
emplary constancy.

“Since I ended my letter 1 supped with Mr. Mon-
tagu; who tells me Mr. Newton is Master of the Mint
T. Stanley, Warden. Pour moi, je suis tout comme
Jétais.”

The question of the Irish Grants was not destined to
go so smoothly as Sir John Vanbrugh supposes in the
above letter. 'While the writer was communicating his
news, the Commons were resolving to bring in a bill
to resume all grants of land and revenue in Ireland,
made since the Revolution, and to apply the same to
public purposes. A month or two later, they laid their
resolutions before the king, who felt hurt that he could
not give away to his faithful followers what had been
forfeited to himself. He somewhat sarcastically sug-
gested to his too remonstrant Commons that they would
be better employed in reducing the national debt, and
in restoring the public credit. The Commons could
not, of course, take personal offence from the king, but

they took care to intimate that whoever had counselled

him to make such a reply was no friend to the establish-
ment of good feeling between the sovereign and his
people. Thereupon, they despatched well-paid com-
missioners to take account of the forfeited estates in
Ireland. Further, they resolved that the passing of
exorbitant grants was a high crime; and, tacking a
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money-bill and the resolution to resume the grants
together, they forced the Lords to accept both : William
being willing to yield in one point, as he was in imme-
diate want of the supplies which parliament was ready
to vote.

The cudgelling of an honourable member is told with.
a sympathising delight on the part of the narrator. It
was not so long since peers horsewhipped, in person or
by proxy, offending poets. Personal chastisements were
lightly construed here as in France, where, however,
the patient occasionally complained. At the court of
the latter country, a satirical rhymer, who had been

soundly flagellated by the satirised party, applied to

the authorities. *“ What do you want?” was the ques-
tion put to him. “Justice!” replied the smarting
versifier. “Oh, it has already been done!” was the
overwhelming rejoinder.

The reference to Newton reminds us that his official
presence at the Mint, at all, was owing to Charles
Montagu, afterwards Earl of Halifax, Newton’s old
friend and fellow-collegian. When Montagu was
Chancellor of the Exchequer, and was about the great
work of recoining the money, he procured from the
king the nomination of Newton as Warden of the Mint.
Pope has sneered at the great philosopher, Newton, in
prose, as he has done at the greater philosopher, Bacon,
in verse. Newton rendered high service to the nation
as Warden of the Mint; and his promotion, alluded to,
as Master, with a salary of nearly fifteen hundred a
year, was an act of justice rather than of recompense.
Previous to his first appointment, places in the Mint
were conferred on the danglers about court, who never
thought it worth their while to perform any other duty
of their office, than that of receiving their salaries.

The theatrical news deserves a word or two of illus-
tration. The town, inconsolable for the loss of a dancer,
was not made merry by Congreve’s comedy, ¢ The Way
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of the World,” which was coldly rececived at Lincoln’s
Inn Fields, early in 1700, despite so brilliant a Milla-
mant as Mrs. Bracegirdle, who exerted herself to the
utmost for her very particular friend, the author.
" Congreve, disgusted with the public, wrote no more.
Leveridge, named in the letter, was well-known and
appreciated in his day, as Dick Leveridge, the bass-
singer, at the theatre in Lincoln’s Inn Fields, and the
composer of many a jovial song. Thirty years after
this letter was written, Leveridge offered to wager a
hundred guineas that he would sing a bass song better
than any man in England! His coffee-house in Tavis-
tock Street, Covent Garden, was a place of resort
for those who loved Leveridge’s fine voice, rather coarse
wit, and power of conversation,—qualities which made
Dick welcome in all joyous fraternities. When old age
and infirmity came upon him, he was not deserted by
the boon companions of the past or the present time.
They made up an annual purse for the ancient vocalist,
who enjoyed the bounty till he was close on his nine-
tieth year.

There is a more famous name that follows—Purcell,
but it is not that of the famous Henry, who had “ gone
to that blessed place where only his harmony can be
exceeded,” in 1695. Vanbrugh refers to Henry’s brother,
Daniel, who had set an opera or two with that sort of

- tolerable success which indicates moderate ability on
the part of the composer. Henry is immortal as
“minstrel.” Daniel was satisfied with being the first
man of his time as a punster. Gottfried Finger was
chapel-master to King James, whom the German did
not care to follow into exile. He and Daniel Purcell
were about equally “respectable” as composers.
Doggett the actor had, at this time, been eight years
on the stage, and was the original representative of
Congreve’s Ben, in ‘Love for Love.” This notice of
his week’s engagement, at as much per night as the
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great Betterton was receiving weekly, is the first instance
of “starring” afforded by the annals of the English
theatre. But majora canamus. The Lady Arglass,
whose “Kleptomania” deprived Mrs. Thomes of her
fans, was a dowager countess of the Irish peerage,
whose lord, the last of his line, had died, in 1684.
That Lady Betty Cromwell should be “sick upon it”
and “keep house,” was only natural, for poor Lady
Betty was the countess’s daughter, and was reasonably
ashamed of her foolish old mother’s propensities, and
the rough comments made thereon by a London mob.

Vanbrugh had already achieved reputation as a dra-
matist, by his comedies, ¢ The Relapse’ and ¢ The Pro-
voked Wife,—the former of which has recently been
produced on the French stage, as an early play by Vol-
taire! Vanbrugh was about to achieve another reputa-
tion as architect, by building Castle Howard, for the
Earl of Carlisle.

The Duchess of Leeds, of whom Vanbrugh speaks so
disparagingly, was Bridget, daughter of Montagu Bertie,
3rd Earl of Lindsey. Her husband was the Earl Danby
of King James’s days, of whom William made a duke,
to lighten his ultimate fall from power.. Of the son,
Peregrine, for whom he appears to have cared so little,
Burnet remarks that he “was an extravagant man both
in his pleasures and humours;” he might have added, a
careless one of his country’s honour, for when he lay
with a naval squadron, off Scilly, he mistook a company
of merchant ships for the French fleet coming down
upon him, and forthwith quitted his station, and took
shelter in Milford Haven.

Lord Carberry, who toasts my lady Manchester, in
Vanbrugh’s postscript, was a son of that Richard
Vaughan, at whose house—Golden Grove, Caermarthen-
shire—Jeffery Taylor, his refugee guest, wrote several of
his works. The Lord Carberry of the postscript had,
as the French say, “lived his life.” In Charles IL’s
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days, Pepys spoke of him as a reputed “lewd fellow,
worse than Sir Charles Sedley,” and an enemy to
Clarendon. His character, however, improved with
time, and in his old age was almost respectable.
He was well versed in literature, became president
of the Royal Society, and was appointed Governor
of Jamaica. Lord Carberry was one of Dryden’s
earliest patrons; and he had a rare library—much of
it of mystical divinity.

In the next letter the ambassador is making himself
“at home” in Paris, and on principles which merit
commendation. To owe no man anything was much
more a maxim of his own than of his master’s.

LORD MANCHESTER TO MR. MONTAGU.
¢Par1s: Nov. 1699.

“« . . . All things are extravagant, much more
than I could imagine; so the necessaries of people here
are such that they cannot stay any time. The method
I have hitherto taken is to pay every month, which is
much to my rgputation, it is true, notwithstanding most
of my equipage I brought from England ; yet my entry
has cost considerable ; the satisfaction I have is that it
was extremely approved of here, which seldom happens
in France. I have also had the good fortune to oblige
all the English, as I believe you will find whenever you
see them ; these things cannot be done but by living
well, though at present it is great expense; yet at last
it may turn to my advantage.”

The subjoined document is one which is in itself a
mystery, and which deals mysteriously with it. The
letter, preserved at Kimbolton, is dated November 20,
1699, without subscription of signature, but directed
thus : «A Monsieur Proctor, chez M. Viard, & St. Cosmé,
dans la rue de la Harpe, Paris,” and with an endorse-
ment in these words, “Lord Middleton’s letters came

CHAP.
II1.



62 COURT AND SOCIETY.

caap. under a cover directed thus: A M. Levesque St. Jean,
JE,I;, Banquier, Paris,” seems to have been one of the inter-
cepted Jacobite letters which fell into the hands of the
English ambassador. There is mystery enough in the
style and expression, which were doubtless sufficiently
intelligible to the correspondent to whom the missive
was addressed—whether a real or a fictitious Monsieur
Proctor.

One allusion, however, in this letter may be readily
explained. The action of the “wild boar,” and the
allusion to the destruction of monsters is partly per-
sonal, partly political. The “ late Prince of Wales,” as
it was the fashion, with Whigs, to designate the youthful
son of the ex-king James, was frequently taken, all
young as he was, to share in the perils and delights of
wild-boar shooting in the royal forests. On one of
these occasions, and in the presence of some little danger,
when the boar made a stand, the princely boy had
exhibited laudable courage, and this moved the hearts
of all the Jacobites, to whom due communication of the
circumstance was made, in the British dominions and
abroad.

The exiled king solemnly commemorates the auspi-
cious event by issuing a medal in honour of his disin-
herited heir. “Cognoscent mei me.” My own shall
know me was the not very appropriate motto on the
exergue, unless it bore reference to the circumstance of
the monster wild-boar, evidently not knowing with
whom he had todeal. A prettier allusion was to be dis-
cerned on that side of the medal on which was to be seen
that “very difficult thing to paint,” as the gentleman
remarks in Sylvester Daggerwood, the “sun behind a
cloud,” with the significant legend “Et lucet et latet,”
which may be rendered,—* He shines, though he is under
a cloud, at St. Germains.” On the reverse there was a
double figure of the little prince. In the foreground,
he stood in bold relief—in the habit of a student—
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and with this inscribed testimonial to his abilities,
“ Literis insignis,” remarkable for his learning ;—which
was not true even as a prophecy. In the distance,
there was a smaller figure of the prince, now costumed
as a mighty hunter, and the young Nimrod of a dozen
years of age was seen calmly shooting at a rampant
but highly honoured wild-boar, the words “— et armis”
continuing the above testimonial, and here witnessing
to his dexterity as a sportsman. For his age, he was
not unskillful ; and on one of these occasions, when he
made twenty-two hits out of thirty-six shots fired, all
St. Germains was jubilant, and the matter was mentioned,
with all the honours, at the Tory Mug House, in Salis-
bury Court.

The medal, commemorative of the prince’s courage
when the wild boar stood at bay, or turned to assault,
probably reached the Mug House also; but Louis XIV.
painfully wounded the susceptibility of James II. by
prohibiting the publication of this medal—that is, for-
bidding its being offered openly for sale. Nevertheless,
it was extensively circulated in private, and thereby the
incident of the wild boar and the prince, who did him
the honour of standing boldly in his enraged presence,
as noted in the annexed letter, has been very substan-
tially preserved in the cabinets of the curious.

The following is the letter to which we have given
this introductory annotation :—

UNKNOWN WRITER TO UNENOWN READER.
“ November 20, 1699.
_“T have appeared but little, my dear friend, ever since
my coming, no more than the necessity of my business
required, but there is a rogue or two of a messenger
who rushed in where I once lodged, which obliged me
to be more close; and my friends, since the barbarous
news is come out of Ireland, have plied me with so
many advices that I do not stir out once in a fortnight,
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and that by night only, which is a great trouble. T dare
not venture to take a turn in the old grass walk, for
fear of those rogues the adversaries, who I have reason
to believe would stick at no villany to avoid appearing
such as I have painted them. I am extremely obliged
to honest Fego, who, though under troubles of his own,
affords me all manner of assistance. Ihave been forced
to lodge a bill in Chancery, which went, I will assure
you, very much against the grain ; but I had otherwise
been precluded in point of time, and the treacherous
trustee would have swallowed me up as to rights, and
sold the estate. I want you to be one of the evidences,
but if you do not come quickly I shall be forced to run
away from my cause and make you another visit, which
nothing but the extreme necessity or danger shall make
me resolve upon, as being unwilling to be burdensome
where I can do no service. It would not be improper
to hint what I write here to F. S. upon the first
opportunity you have, and pray give, in my name, all
acknowledgments and services. My cousin likewise
will be obliged to go over to Ireland to look after her
affairs (for she is basely used) or else to some place very
distant from this town, to live after a cheaper manner.
I warn you, my dear friend, not to mistake this for
desponding, I never had one such thought ; but if T find
myself deceived in my calculations again, as to time I
mean, I shall have no plum porridge to eat, and must
find out another way of living.

“I was under so many troubles when I writ my last
letter that I remember but very little of it, only I
cannot think if it was fit to be shown, nor shall T send
you any that will. Prognosticators say we shall have
very warm weather, and that this session is not likely
to be of any long continuance. For myself, who am
swayed by the reason which I at the first formed my
opinion from, I confess I can find even in this speech
something to confirm me, and cannot but think it odd
there is nothing of the Spanish affair in it.
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“ That heroic action of the wild boar has charmed us
all, but we cannot without trembling reflect upon the
danger to which this so promising a young prince was
exposed, and how fatal it might have proved if he had
missed his shot ; but the overruling Power will, I trust,
be ever careful of royal blood, and in due time exter-
minate monsters.

“The majordomo has, I hope, reached you by this
time, and then he has brought you news of the death
of poor Treaseare, than whom no man could more long
to see you. (God Almighty has been pleased in a short
while to deprive two of my friends of a satisfaction they
had set their whole hearts upon ; honest Fego continues
invincible in his faith, and I must conjure you as a man
of honour and lover of justice without respect of persons,
to get him true information in one matter. I hope our
friend who paid you the money when he came from
Fontainebleau will prove just in the end, though he hath
not hitherto been so clever as he ought, but (which is
not fair) been his own carver all along. About April
last he sold a horse, as we are informed, to the gov-
ernor of Paris ; since you make to Fego offers of service,
he begs of you to visit the governor’s stable, to discourse
the master of his horse, to know what he gave for it,
and if any of less value was sold at the same time, and
put off upon the credit of this, and what price was set
upon each by the buyer. . . . . I beg of you, my dear
friend, to give my most humble duty and service to my
Lord M , and to his lady likewise, if you have an
opportunity. If I can pick up anything worth commu-
nicating to him, you shall have it, but I am more
inclinable to retire for a month amongst some of my
relations thirty or forty miles off, that I may get
a little fresh air, which I very much want, upon my
word. Adieu, my dear friend. I am yours ever.”

Questions of more mere matter of fact, and more

openly treated, introduce the next chapter.
VOL. IL F
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CHAPTER IV.

MATTHEW PRIOR, POET.

HE finances of King William were not so flourishing
at this time but that the representatives of his
person and policy in foreign courts, subject to extraor-
dinary outlays, particularly at a period when Jacobites
were active in works of sedition, intrigues were a-foot,
plots were projected, and agents, at the best suspicious,
had to be paid liberally for questionable intelligence.
The Earl of Manchester, it will be seen, had to borrow
money in order that he might leave Paris honourably,
and though this was for the king’s service, and not for
his own, he appears to have found delays in the repay-
ment.

TO THE KING’S MOST EXCELLENT MAJESTY
(THE MEMORIAL OF THE EARL OF MANCHESTER).

“ MAY IT PLEASE YOUR MAJESTY,— Y our Majesty having
been graciously pleased to direct the sum of 1,3977. 10s.
to be paid unto the said earl by 300/ a week, from the
first day of January, in part of the arrears due to him
as late ambassador in France, there remain yet due to
him on his ordinary

£ s. d.
Entertainment 5 : 5 . 2,285 14 3% -
And upon five bills of extraordinarys 2,480 0 O

Fiaall v o neteutie e SLnied o Bek 40 31

That the said earl, being commanded by your Majesty
on a sudden to leave France, had not time to apply for

-~
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money to discharge his debts, but was obliged to take
up money from his merchants and gave bills to repay
the same in a short time here in London, great part
whereof remains unpaid, and the said merchants being
very importunate with the said ear] for their money.

Tt is humbly prayed that your Majesty would
be graciously pleased to direct the payment
of the said 4,7651. 14s. 3% or that the said
3007 a week may be contmued till the same
is satisfied.”

We have noticed above that the intelligencers or
informers in the pay of the English King’s government,
were often untrustworthy, and the annexed letter from
Secretary Vernon gives further illustration of this fact.
The Secretary gives the portrait of one of those rascals
—there were many of them —who lived by betraying
both parties whom they affected to serve. The grave
Vernon, for lack of better employment, can afford to
waste some small wit on this fellow.

The Lord Windsor mentioned in this letter was
probably the son of Other Windsor, second earl of that
line. He was Baron Windsor. There was a Viscount
Windsor (Lord Mountjoy in Ireland) who became the
third husband of Charlotte, widow of the second Lord
Jeflries—son of the notorious judge. This lady herself
was of mixed descent, being the only daughter of Philip,
seventh earl of Pembroke, and of Henriette de Querou-
aille, third daughter of Louise de Querouaille, Duchess
of Portsmouth and mistress to Charles IL

In the new parliament to which Vernon makes
reference, occurred the famous contest for Speaker, in
. the House of Commons, between Harley and Sir
Richard Onslow, when the former was elected by a
majority of 249 to 125, a result extremely unsatisfactory
to the Whigs, as it proved very unpleasantly, that the
Tory interest was the more influential in the House

2
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of Commons, and that the former party would have

" to look well to the maintaining of their own. This

was one of Harley’s great triumphs, up to which he
had been steadily working. His course hitherto had
been—service in a troop of horse which his father,
Sir Edward, had raised in support of William of
Orange ; he had then been chosen M.P. for the Cornish
borough, Tregony—subsequently he sat for Radnor.
In 1690 he had been selected one of the nine
commissioners for examining the public accounts, and
one of the arbitrators for the union of the two Indian
companies. His most conspicuous public service, how-
ever, hitherto, had been his introduction, in 1694, of
the motion for the frequent meeting and calling of
parliament, which had the rare good fortune of being
passed by both houses, without alteration or amend—
ment. ]
One singular circumstance connected with the Speaker
of the parliament referred to by Vernon, may be here
mentioned. Harley was educated at a private school
at Shilton in Oxfordshire, under the Rev. Mr. Birch.
From this private school, there were thirteen pupils
who were contemporaries in the public service as they
had formerly been at school ; namely, Lord Chancellor
Harcourt, the Lord High Treasurer Harley (Earl of
Oxford), the Lord Chief Justice Trevor of the Common
Pleas, and ten members of the House of Commons.

SECRETARY VERNON TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“WarrElaLL : February 13, 1700.

« My Lorp,—Your letters of the 15th and 19th
arrived together on Tuesday last, and have been laid
before his Majesty. My Lord Windsor’s servant
brought me the same evening your letter of the 21st.

“I have no directions to send you upon your letters.
‘What negociations are on foot, are like to be carried
on in Holland, but I don’t hear that either side begins
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yet to open themselves ; I suppose they will not be long
in that posture.

“Count Tallard has printed and published the
memorial M. D’Avaux carried into Holland ; it came
out both in English and French three or four days
before the Dutch post brought it to the king. The
man that Collins has brought over is a very slippery
spark, and has played all sorts of pranks here formerly,
and I rather expect a new trick from him than any
useful service, but I must do the best with him I can.
He knows not where to look for any of the men he
has mentioned, but says he must have time to find
them. In the mean time, he wants the protection of
the government to secure him from returning to
Newgate, which he was confined to, for his insolent
language against the king. He makes great use of
your Excellency’s having heard before of his strange
" game, and that is the best foundation he grounds his
credit. I suppose ere long, if he discovers nothing else
be will discover himself.

“You will receive from the office, the king’s speech.
I hope that will be looked upon as a proof we are in a
peaceable disposition ; how long we shall find others
so is more to be suspected. I expect the speech will
be reported to-morrow in our house; we could not
come sooner to it by reason of the multitude of
petitions about elections, and there is a great keenness
to make examples of those who have bribed the
borotighs. I believe, upon reading the king’s speech
in our House, they will vote an address of thanks
with assurances of supporting the king and his govern-
ment and taking the most effectual ways for the safety
of England, the preservation of the Protestant religion,
and the peace of Europe.

“The Lords, I hear, have resolved on such an
address already, with some additions about alliances,
and intend to desire the concurrence of the Commons.
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The king is sensible that you are under some incon-
venience at your staying there, but does not think it
can be otherwise at present, and hopes you are under
no great inconvenience in it.

“I am, with great respect, your Excellency’s faithful
and obedient servant,

« J. VERNON.”

The Earl of Melfort, whose name will be found
frequently mentioned in one portion of these pages,
was one of the many men of his day who greatly pro-
fited by the alleged treason of others, and profitably
practised it himself. In James IL’s royal period in
England, Melfort had got assigned to him the estate of
the octogenarian Sir Hugh Campbell, worth a thousand
a year. The forfeiture of this estate, the owner of
which could not be proved to be guilty, excited a
general indignation; but it made of Melfort a servile
tool of James, and he soon after, with his brother the
Earl of Perth, conformed to the Romish religion, pro-
fessed by the king. Melfort was as vigilant as he was
servile ; and he was the first to propose, on the prospect
of the revolution of 1688, the seizure of all suspected
persons, and the imprisoning of them in Portsmouth.
The proposal was ridiculed by Sunderland, as imprac-
ticable.

Melfort, in following the fortunes of James, was
happiest when employed in intrigues against William.
His master had often to disavow his acts and his epistles,
and Melfort frequently marred the design he had under-
taken to accomplish. His letter, which is referred to in
the following extract of a despatch from Secretary
Vernon to Lord Manchester, has been already explained;
but the despatch shows of what importance the doings
of this meddling agent were accounted by the ministers
at the court of St. James’s.
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SECRETARY VERNON TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“ WHITEHALL : February 20, 1700.

“ My Lorp,—I send you inclosed the Earl of Melfort’s
letter, printed by order of the House of Lords. I
suppose there will be no question made at St. Germains
whether the letter be genuine or not ; at least M. Tallard
does not call that into doubt, though he seems much
offended at the letters being communicated to the Lords
and Commons. He endeavoured to speak with me on
Monday night, but I was gone to Kensington; and
upon his writing to me next morning, that I would

~appoint him- a time when he might speak with me, I
went to him. He was full of expostulations upon the
letters being carried to the two houses by the Lord
Chamberlain and myself, as if it were done to create an
animosity between the two nations, and to give the
alarm that the French had formed a design to invade
England, whereas this appeared to be only a chymerical
notion of Melfort—who (as he often repeated) was un
fou et un extravagant ; that he was banished from the
court of St. James’, and had nothing to do in the court
of France; that his waiting upon Mme. De Maintenon
was only to get two of his daughters put into the
nunnery of St. Cyr; that he had no access to the
French ministers, but was spinning cobwebs of his own,
and there ought not to have been any occasion taken
from thence fo create any jealousies and misunder-
standings; that the French had- shown their disposition
to live in friendship with England, and he thought care
ought to be taken on our side not to give any ground
to believe that we were picking a quarrel with them
and this he thought necessary to tell me as a matter
that deserved attention. ‘

“ As to the character he gave my Lord Melfort of
fou et incorsé (sic.), when we saw him treated as such in
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France we should be willing to have the same opinion
of him ; till then we could not but remember what an
instrument he had been in promoting the intended
assassination and invasion, and must be concerned that
he is bringing himself into play again upon the same
bottom ; and, by his way of writing, one must suspect
that he is admitted into conversations with the French
ministers. It seemed very extraordinary that he should
press the improving this opportunity now the court of
France had resentment upon the discovery of some
treachery they thought his Majesty guilty of.”

Occasionally there came to the English Ambassador
in Paris, scraps of interesting intelligence from foreign
courts. A paragraph of more than usual interest occurs
in a letter addressed from Stockholm, December 8,
1700, from Mr. Robinson, the British Envoy in Sweden.:
Tt refers to what occurred just previous to that wonder-
ful battle of Narva, fought on November 30, in which
Charles XII., then only in his nineteenth year, attacked
from seventy to eighty thousand Russians behind strong
entrenchments, with about a fourth of that force. The
attack was made in a snow storm, and the result was
the slaughter of half the Russian army, and the surren-
der of such of the remainder as were not able to effect
their escape. A victory so complete, of a small force
over a greater, had rarely been seen. The conquering
young king bore his honours modestly, and the comment
of Ozar Peter upon the calamity was that the Swedes,
by fighting in that fashion, would at last teach his
Russians to vanquish them: and Pultowa, in time,
compensated in some degree, for Narva.

Much as we have heard of the bearing of Charles
during the fight, worthy of admiration, here is something
not less worthy of praise, connected with what took place
before that sanguinary fight begun. The night before
the wondrous victory of Agincourt, the English were at
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prayers, and their brave but too confident enemy, at
wine and dice. In the snow, before Narva, Charles
bore himself, not like the madman of the North, but
like a true Christian king; and when his army rose,
refreshed and strengthened, they turned from the
sacrament of peace, and smote the Amalekites, hip and
thigh !

MR. ROBINSON TO LORD MANCHESTER.
¢“SrockmoLM: Dec. 8, 1700.

“. . . That the day before the action his Majesty
had recommended and given time to all his army to
prepare themselves and receive the sacrament, himself
exhorting them to repentance, and especially that for
the love of God and him they would forgive one
another, and be in perfect charity. After the sacrament
his Majesty, at the head of his army, represented to
them the barbarous cruelty of the enemy before them,
and the necessity of conquering or dying; the justice
of his own cause, and therefore the firm confidence he
had that God would give a blessing to his endeavours ;
yet if any of them were unwilling to venture with him,
they should have free leave to retire; nor should they
thereby incur his displeasure. Upon this the whole
army expressed their unanimous resolution to live and
die with him, and their desire to be led against the
enemy.”

Does not the above indicate almost a plagiarism from
the sentiments to which the poet gives expression, in
the person of Henry V.?—

Rather proclaim it, Westmoreland, through my host,
That he which hath no stomach to this fight,

Let him depart, his passport shall be made,

And crowns for convoy put into his purse.

‘We would not die in that man’s company

That fears his fellowship to die with us.

More gossip, with matters of grave import, forms
the staple of the next letter from home, written by
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Mr. Yard. The Lord Privy Seal, who is spoken of as
recently deceased, was the first Lord Lonsdale. His
successor was the first Earl of Tankerville, better known
as Forde Grey, the third Baron Grey of Werke—the
rough wooer who forcibly carried off Lady Henrietta
Berkeley, and had to stand trial for the outrage.
William restored him to his estate, and elevated him
in the peerage. Lord Tankerville was an author too.
His secret history of the Rye House Plot was published
in 1754, in the time of his great grandson, through
his daughter and sole heiress—Charles Bennet, Earl of
Tankerville.

But we come upon a still more notable man in the
person of the first and only Earl of Ranelagh, of the
Irish Peerage, a man who, having ruined himself by his
passion for building and his extravagance in gardening,
was now appointed to a newly-created post— superin-
tendent of the royal edifices and pleasure-grounds, and
bidden to try his lavish hand on Hampton Court Palace
and demesne. The earl was great grandson of Jones,
Archbishop of Dublin in the reign of Charles I, and
had been promoted from Viscount by Charles II., in
1674. The king loved a young man of great parts and
great vices, whose conversation abounded with wit, and
whose dexterity rather than aptitude for business was
notorious.

This aptitude was, however, of a particular quality;
a quality extremely gratifying to Charles II. Lord
Ranelagh, who then had the finances of Ireland in his
hands, was always ready to supply his royal master—
after himself—with money. Out of the Irish revenue
he undertook to supply Charles with funds to defray
the expenses to be incurred in repairing and marring
Windsor Castle. Into the Irish treasury, Charles’s
French mistress, the Duchess of Portsmouth, was also
permitted to dip her hands. To serve such people as
these, Irish officials were left unpaid, and the Irish
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accounts got into great confusion. The king urged
Lord Essex (the first of the Capels who bore that title,
the unfortunate lord who cut his throat in the Tower),
who was lord-lieutenant of Ireland, to declare Ranelagh’s
accounts duly passed. The gallant Essex replied that
he would, to please his Majesty, declare Ranelagh to be
duly excused from presenting them, but that he would
not do more!

This Irish financier became paymaster of the forces
under James II., and was constantly in arrears. Ques-
tioned repeatedly in the English House of Commons,
the fat, dark, middle-aged man turned every point aside
by his wit and facetiousness ; and, when he was accused,
soon after the death of William, whom he had also served
as paymaster to the army, of having defrauded the
government of a million of money, it was imputed to
him as a merit by his friends, that he was in default
only a paltry hundred thousand pounds orso! He was,
however, expelled the house ; and he found consolation
in the enjoyment of his mansion and gardens on the
river-side at Chelsea, known to a later and a revelling
generation as “Ranelagh.” This nobleman’s only daugh-
ter married Lord Coningsby, a brave, eccentric, blun-
dering man, whom Pope has immortalised in his Satires,
in the simple expression, “Coningsby harangues!” For
this marriage, Lord Ranelagh disinherited his daughter,
and left all his property to Greenwich Hospital. The
house he had designed and the gardens he had laid out,
east of “Chelsea College,” became a place of public resort.
Lord Ranelagh died in 1711. The disinheriting of his
daughter was an unjustifiable act ; the worst that could
be said against Coningsby was that he was a heavy,
stupid man ; while Ranelagh was remarkably quick and
brilliant. In early life, there had been a dash of ec-
centricity about him, too. He had been in love with
the most beautiful, lazy, languishing, affected, and irre-
sistible of the so-called maids of honour in the court of
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Charles IT. Mistress Jane Middleton, however, had
another lover, Ralph Montagu, afterwards Duke of
Montagu, to get rid of whom, Mr. Jones—who was not
yet Lord Ranelagh, furthered the suit of a third and
more dangerous lover —the Chevalier de Grammont
himself. For a man of wit, this was a dangerous, as it
proved an unsuccessful, process.

The trade-laws referred to in the letter from Mr.
Yard will excite, perhaps, some surprise. The break-up
of the Scottish trading expedition to Darien was re-
ceived in England with that resignation with which a
man is said to look upon the calamities which befall his
friends. Its establishment had sorely disturbed the
king’s peace. It had led to his being petitioned out of
all reason, and a law forbidding these assaults on him,
from Scotland, was entirely disregarded. The imprac-
ticability of commercially opposing one part of the kirg-
dom against the other, led the king to desire an end,
which was long a-coming—one law for all traders.

MR. YARD TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“WmrenaLL: July 22, 1700.

«“ My Lorp,—The little news we have here is the
reason I do not trouble your Lordship oftener. Your
Lordship has already heard of the death of my Lord
Privy Seal, and we are now expecting how the office
will be disposed of. The king has declared that he will
commit the custody of the Privy Seal very soon to a
single person; who is the person designed I cannot yet
tell your Lordship. The Scots are now convinced that
the news about Darien is true, for some persons are
arrived in Scotland who were at the signing of the capi-
tulation with the Spaniards, in pursuance of which they
all embarked and directed their course to some of their
English plantations, their ships not being in a condition
to go directly home. The discontented party in Scot-
land, seeing their measures broke in relation to Darien,
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are setting up a new device to distinguish themselves
by, and foment an animosity by entering into an agree-
ment whereby they promise, on their honour and con-
science, to wear no foreign manufactures, nor drink any
foreign wine, which the Privy Couneil, looking upon as
of dangerous consequences, and it coming directly
against an Act of Parliament which forbids the entering
into any leagues, covenants, or engagements of that kind
without the king’s leave, they published a proclama-
tion forbidding all persons to sign the association ; but,
notwithstanding this, several of the nobility and gentry
had subscribed the same, and they were handing it
about for more hands. I suppose your Lordship has
heard that my Lord Ranelagh is made superintendent
of the king’s buildings and gardens, though I do not
find he has yet any salary settled for this new office;
his present business will be to finish Hampton Cqurt.
“T am, with great respect, my Lord,
“ Your Lordship’s most obedient, -
“R. YARD.” -

An extract from a letter written by Vernon refers to
a serious matter connected with the seizure of French
pirates at sea, their trial, and condemnation. It does
not appear, however, that Lord Manchester was much
troubled by the French government on the subject.

SECRETARY VERNON TO LORD MANCHESTER.
“WarreHALL: Oct. 28, 1700.

“« . . . Our Admiralty Sessions for the trial of
the French pirates is now concluded.  They have been
tried by juries most of French and English, though our
great lawyers said they could not pretend to it in accu-
sations of this nature ; but everything has been carried
with great candour and impartiality, so that whatever
could make for the acquittal of any of them was laid
hold of in their favour, by which means of 90 men that
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were taken fighting in one ship, after many piracies
committed by them, 38 were acquitted, and 52 con-
demned.”

LORD MANCHESTER TO LORD JERSEY.
“Pagis: Sept.

« . . . Idonotdoubt but you have heard that
the Princess has sent me letters for this court to notify
the death of the Duke of Gloucester. Unless I have also
orders from the king I cannot present them. Nor will
they be received as I have informed myself. I should
think they ought to have known the king’s pleasure,
there is so much time lost. In my opinion, it is much
better to let it alone, for though they should go into
mourning here, it would be for so little time that it
might not be well taken.”

When the letter, dated Paris, Dec. 19, from the Earl
of Manchester to his brilliant cousin, Charles Montagu,
was despatched, the nobleman to whom it was addressed
had worn his title of Baron but four days. The title of
Viscount, Earl, and Marquis of Halifax had been enjoyed
by the two Savilles, father and son, from 1668, when
the viscounty was conferred, to 1700, when the titles
became extinct.

In December of the latter year, Charles Montagu,
grandson of the first Earl of Manchester (being the
fourth son of George, who was the fifth son of that
earl), was created Baron Halifax. Fourteen years later
he was created Viscount Sunbury and Earl of Halifax,
titles in which he was succeeded by his nephew and
great nephew, in which last the honours became extinct,
in 1772.

And here before giving Lord Manchester’s letter to
his cousin Halifax, we will insert a letter which sud-
denly turns up from the father of Halifax—the George
above named. It is of interest from its connection with
marriage statistics and domestic economy. There is, as
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before said, no date to it, but as the writer’s sister is
spoken of in the postscript by her married baronial
title of “ Chandos,” the period was probably about the
middle of the seventeenth century. This document, like
one in another page, will show the nature of the diffi-
culties which, in those days, impeded the coming to-
gether of young hearts.

GEORGE MONTAGU TO THE EARL OF MANCHESTER.

“ My Lorp,—I humbly thank you for the book which
I have now received. And I have now treated this
business for my niece to the utmost, where at the
bottom I{ind little of honour or plenty intended, but
altogether terms of advantage to be gained from you
and me, there being nothmg yielded on their side, on
the point of maintenance for the present, which will be
the comfort of their lives, and indeed the merit of her
portion that carries any equality or correspondence to
the fortune she brings them ; my opinion of which I
have plainly set down under Doctor Wiseman’s flourish;
and indeed, my Lord, examining it, they give their son
but 407, besides the interest of his wife’s portion, and
the rest of the estate they énjoy during their lives; but
his advancement or the consideration of this marriage
moves them nothmg but to settle the estate, when they
can no longer enjoy it. And I hope they allow him
401. a year now, otherwise my young gallant is in a sad
condition. I have offered them to take 6001 a year, if
they will give them diet while they reside together, and
let them be furnished, if they part from them, to pay
for it in another place. But in a word, they refuse all
things excepting 4007, as I have expressed ; they will
not give them sixpence of the portion; noradd to their
maintenance if old Sir Thomas Wiseman should happen
to die, when the father’s fortune would be so enlarged
as that they would be in possession of all.

“For my own part, I confess I am so unsatisfied, that
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crap. I desire to be excused from proceeding till I receive

V. _ “your Lordship’s opinion of these conditions ; and I think

it in vain to give myself the trouble or expense of seeing

writings of an estate that being never so clear we are

not to have any share of. And I believe, in all treaties

of this nature, the matter is first agreed on, before the

manner of settlement; which may too far admit a con-

cession, more especially when the terms are at that

distance and disproportion ; for the case is altered since

T waited on you, the difference being only then whether

700/ or 800l a year; and nothing less in discourse.

Doctor Wiseman desires your Lordship’s answer and

mine, in writing, to his papers, which if you please to

send me up, you will oblige your Lordship’s humble
servant,

“Gro. MoxTacu.

“My sister Chandos lies in a weak condition, being
brought to bed before her time, of a daughter, which is
dead, and herself full of the small-pox. We all beg
your Lordship’s prayers, and present our humble service
to you and my lady. My Lady Irby lies very ill, and
desires me to write to you, whether my Lady can lend
her a milche ass, and she will send a man a’ purpose.”

The Lady Chandos named in the above postscript,
the sister of the writer, was the wife of the sixth Baron
Chandos of Sudeley. The fifth baron, father of the
latter, was the famous “Xing of Cotswold,” a title
popularly awarded to him on account of the magnifi-
cence and number of the retinue with which he was
wont to go up to court. His wife was the daughter of
Ferdinando, fifth Earl Derby of the house of Stanley,
concerning the manner of whose death the following
extract from the Harleian MSS. affords details highly
illustrative of the period. The earl was supposed to
have been bewitched to death, and « On the 10th April, -
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1594, about midnight, was found in his Honour’s bed-
chamber, by one Mr. Halsall, an image of wax, with hair
like unto the hair of his Honour’s head, twisted through
the belly thereof, from . . . . . The image was hastily
cast into the fire by Mr. Halsall before it was viewed,
because he thought by burning the waz he should relieve
my lord from witcheraft, and burn the witch who so
much tormented his Honour. But it fell out contrary
to his love and affection, for after the melting thereof,
his Honour more and more declined.”

The sixth Lord Chandos was more fatally visited by
small-pox than his wife. This gallant cavalier fought
so lustily for the King, at Newbury, that Charles offered
to make him an earl under that name, but he declined,
on the ground of present unworthiness. Waller subse-
quently took his fortified mansion at Sudeley, with all
its valuable contents, and, later, the parliament mulcted
him in a fine of 4,000/ In 1652, Lord Chandos killed
Colonel Compton in a duel on Putney Marsh, for which
the survivor was tried, after a year’s imprisonment,
and convicted of manslaughter. He was shortly after
attacked by small-pox, of which he died. The two
marriages of this lord produced five daughters, but no
sons. The seventh lord, brother to the last baron, will
be remembered by the readers of Pepys, as “my
simple Lord Chandos,” who sang psalms at Lord Sand-
wich’s, till the diarist was weary of listening to the dull
minstrel. :

There only remains to be added, in reference to the
above postscript, that the Lady Irby therein mentioned
as anxious for the loan of a milch-ass, was George
Montagu’s mother-in-law. Of the five sons of the
marriage of this gentleman with Elizabeth Irby, the
fourth son, Charles, became the first Lord Halifax, the
youngest, Lord Chief Justice of the Exchequer.

We now return to Lord Manchester, and the first
Lord Halifax of the House of Montagu.
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LORD MANCHESTER TO LORD HALIFAX.

“Par1s : Dec. 19, 1780, |

“My Lorp,—I am very glad you are out of the House
of Commons, and I believe the Tory party are not sorry,
who I suppose are now to govern. I thought Lord
Rochester named our new secretary, but I hear now
it was Lord Jersey, who has more interest with the
king than ever. I cannot comprehend what we are
doing, and what measures we intend to take with
France ; their way of proceeding has surprised most,
though it must be owned the emperor’s not signing
gives them a plausible pretence for it. What may be
the consequences, time must show, but I cannot see
any good one to England ; and what remedy there is, is
hard to tell. I must desire you will send me some

light into affairs at home, and how people stand affected,

and what is your opinion in relation to myself. You see
as I go on, I cannot hope to save anything ; and though
you are so kind as to have got me my first bill of
extraordinaries paid, yet I am still in a great arrear,
most of which I owe to my merchant in London or
here. It would make me easy if there was any hope
after sometime longer one should be considered, but
when T see all my friends in a manner laid aside, what
can I expect? and it may be they will desire one here
of their own party, though, if so, I cannot but think
the king will consider me; and to leave this place is
what I shall not be sorry for. If we own the new king
of Spain, I believe an ambassador will be sent to com-
pliment him, which I am in doubt whether I ought
not to desire it rather than stay here ; the expence will
be less and the allowance the same. I may be allowed
something more than the ordinary for my equipage,
and by which means my arrears would be paid me, so
that I should begin anew ; and my stay there cannot
be so long as is likely to be here. I fancy you will
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take me to have a rambling head, but what I propose
is, whilst abroad I could save so much as to make me
easy when I return; upon the whole, I desire your
advice, and if you are of this opinion, and think it for
my interest, be so good as to mention it to Lord J ersey,
as from yourself, to prevent the naming any other, if
you find matters tend that way, as I think they will;
otherwise, you will see me soon at home. I cannot yet
desire leave, as matters stand, to come to England about
my own affairs, which I am sensible do require my
being there, but I intend it as soon as I see it is
proper.
“ Your, &c. M.”

A note struck by a poet—though he was a humble
man’s son, and had a butcher’s wife for the Chloe of his
loves—was picked up in a coffee-house by Harley, and
will amuse. The note is from Mat. Prior.

MATTHEW PRIOR TO LORD MANCHESTER.

“ WHITEHALL : Dec. ¥769. {ﬁ ot

“T am indebted to my good Lord Manchester for
two or three letters, and it would be unreasonable if I
did not take the opportunity of Mr. Chetwind’s return
to tell your Lordship what I know of the state of
things here. That we shall have a new Parliament is (I
think) certain (at least as far as I can see into the
matter) ; what sort of a Parliament it may prove, I
cannot anyways foresee, but it is said there never was
so much work as at present in securing parties and
bribing elections. Whig and Tory are railling on both
sides, so violent that the government may easily be
overturned by the madness of either faction. We take
it to be our play to do nothing against common sense
or common law, and to be for those that will support
the Crown, rather than oblige their party; and in
order to this, men are preferred who are looked upon
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to be honest and moderate in this number (whether
with reason or not, time must decide). We comprehend
our Lord-Keeper and our new secretary, Lord Rochester
and Lord Godolphin, are in the Cabinet Council : the
latter is at the head of the Treasury; the former (we
take for granted) is to go Lord Lieutenant of Ireland,

though it be yet a secret. The two companys are to be °

brought to an agreement (if possible), and Mr. Mon-
tagu’s being made a peer (we take for granted) may
contribute to this union since, being in the House of
Commons, he would make an ill-figure if he either
declined to support the vote, or should find too great
an opposition in his endeavouring so to do. As to the
great affair, I presume the king will wholly defer it to
the Parliament, and act conjointly with their consent ;
which Itake to be the only method. All that I can say
more on that head is, that I take it to be happy for the
king that the will is preferred by the French at a time
when everybody was peevish against the Court (though
with what reason God knows) about the treaty. Count
Tallard makes a foolish figure here : I do not know as
yet what he says to the king on this occasion; but
everybody observes his Excellency to be very melan-
choly and desponding, and one may judge he has
reason to be so as to his own particular concerning
the part he has been made to act, however his country
may in general approve their monarch’s breach of
truth and treaty. This, I think, is the present figure of
our affairs, which I am glad to write to so good a friend
as my Lord Manchester, though, to most of the world
here, T am of opinion that to say least is to do best.
Your friend, my Lord Jersey, grows very much a minister
and is 1n a fair way of being. As to my own affairs, I
have a great many friends that would set me up for
Cambridge : I know I shall find great opposition from
Mr. Hammand’s party there, and great -trouble in case
I should inrow him out from those men who will

é
i



PRIOR’S LOVE OF VENISON. 85

never be satisfied, let me act as I will or can. If your
Lordship thinks it convenient, I know you will not
refuse me your letter to the University. My Lady
Sandwich is gone to Hinchingbroke, I hear, in order to
set up Charles Boyle against Mr. Wortley Montagu’s
interest at Huntingdon. Vive la Guerre, whosoever is
chosen or cast out, or on what side soever things turn.
I am most truly your Excellency’s most obedient,
humble servant,
“ MAr. Prior.

“Though I am no longer in a Secretary’s office,
venison would not poison a commissioner, and does are
now in season, which may be useful to inform Mr.
Woolaston of, when next your Lordship writes to him.”

A poet looking after such material things as venison,
is simply, in Prior’s case, a poet looking after that which
he loved, at least, as well as he loved poetry; and
doubtless a Kimbolton doe suffered for the gratification
of Prior’s appetite. Of too much gratification, on the
other hand, a peer was supposed to be dying. In a
letter from Vernon to Lord Manchester, dated October
1700, it is said, “ My Lord Bradford came to town on
Saturday last; he is something better, but he can’t yet
recover his stomach, which is no good symptom in one
of his age.” But Frank Newport, descended from the
Bishop of -Chester of that name, contrived to live on
till 1708.

Meanwhile, referring to an “on dit,” in' France,
Vernon adds :—

i I can’t imagine what they propose to
themselves at St. Germains by reporting the accounts
of King Charles and the Duchess of York’s dying
Catholics. I know not what use it may be of abroad,
but it will do them no good here, and, therefore, when
those papers are public, I hope your Excelleney will
send over a good parcel of them by two or three
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CHAPTER V.

FROM KIMBOLTON TO PARIS.

@N the accession of Earl Charles to the title, the cpap.
ancient residence at Kimbolton appears to have _ V-
been thoroughly put in order. An inventory of what it
contained in 1687 will enable us to see what progress
had been made in furnishing a mansion, after a lapse
of some forty years. This inventory makes no mention
of the Queen’s Chamber; but there is a *“Duke’s
Chamber,” which is probably the old apartment of
Katharine of Arragon, now abundantly rather than
sumptuously furnished, as a bedroom, and possessing
among other adornments, “five picktures in flrames.”
The “Long Gallery” no longer appears, but we find
an “Upper Gallery,” with “six large picktures, four
little picktures, and two lanskips;” and a “TLower
Gallery,” in which are *ten small head picktures, and
three small lanskips.” The “Chappell Chamber” is
now a luxurious sleeping-room. The “ Chappell” itself
is amply provided with silk and embroidered cushions,
whereby sinners might be rendered as little miserable
as possible, with “coate of armes belonging to the
fiamily,” and “crest and crownet,” to mortify vanity.
“The strangers’ seat for gents” consists of « two formes
and an embroidered cover, two cushions, and four old
Comon prayer bookes.” Two of the daughters of the
late earl have left their names to rooms; in “my Lady
Catherine’s chamber,” the couch is hung round with
“four purple cloath curtaines, embroidered and lined
with yellow sarsnet,” covered with “ one yellow sarsnet
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quilted counterpane,” and flanked by “one chaire of
rich silk,” and “two yellow stooles”—the superabun-
dance of which colour must have been disadvantageous
to the complexion of the future Lady Catherine Edwin,
when that beauty opened her eyes on the dazzled world,
of a morning. In “Lady Ellinor’s Chamber,” we find
“the room hung with four peeces of imagery tapestry,”
and the bed furnished with «four sadcullor cloath cur-
taines, lined with blew ;” near it is * one little tabel with
a carpet of green bay’s,” and altogether there is a nun-
like aspect in the room, not inappropriate to the bower
of a young lady who was destined to acknowledge no
lord of her hand and heart.

My Lord himself, the father of Earl Charles, slept
beneath an “Indian-quilted counterpane,” within “yellow
damasked curtaines,” while no less than “three elbow
chaires of yellow damask,” have arms open to receive
him, and stools of the same bright hue are ready to

support his feet. My Lady, on the other hand, reposed:

in a “room hung with six peeces of haire called silk-
watered mochaire,” If one may presume to look fur-
ther, we see drawn around my Lady’s bed ¢six moehaire
curtaines garnisht with Irish stitch and fringe, and
four Irish stitch slips all lined with white watered
tabby,” with counterpanes “suitable to the bed "—the
upper one, Indian, kept down by “four guilt lyons’

clawes.” The remainder of the furniture might have’

found place in the sleeping-chamber of a queen. In all
the bedrooms, indeed, there is a profusion of all needful
furniture, and, indeed, the same remark applies to the
whole mansion. ~ There is an evident increase too of
“ picktures,” since the days of the last inventory; and
some of these are named. In the Great Hall, where
gilt chairs and cisterns abound, there is « one pickture
at length, the Earle of Warwicke,” with “one of Sir
Edward Hatton,” “one of my Lady Coleraine,” and “one
of my Lord Chamberlain’s first lady,” the merry Susan,
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daughter of John Hill, Esq., of Warwickshire. Of my
Lord Chamberlain himself we find a portrait in the great
dining-room; and in the ante-room to the drawing-room,
a very noble company “in large frames,” comprising,
“the Earl of Northumberland, his lady and child, in
one frame ; the Countess of Bedford; the Countess of
Manchester ; the Lady Thimbleby and her sisters, in
one frame; the Lady Izabella Smith’; the Countess of
Manchester and Lady Rich, in one frame ; the Countess
of Sunderland (Sacharissa), the Boare’s Head,” and
“four Italian peeces.” Then we have, “picktures in
small frames— King Charles I. between two lanskips;
and his queene between two lanskips, Esquire Rogers
and his lady, with a lanskip between; the Earle of
Northumberland, and Lord Holland, with a lanskip
between.” 1In the “little waiting-room,” near the great
hall, a room hung with “sadcullor bayes,” are means of
amusement, “ one pair of tables, table-men and boxes;
one chess board and men, and one bord to play at fox
and gouse.” There are no books noticed at all ; but the
wine, “strong and small-beer sellers ” indicate a variety
in the beverages to be quaffed in the dining-room or
the servants’ hall. The rooms, tapestried with the work
of Sedan and other foreign looms, must have worn a
stately appearance. The Castle Gatehouse has now
only a semi-serious aspect. There are muskets there as
of yore, and brass and iron wall-pieces; but therewith
“ninepins and bowl,” and ¢ shuffle-board tables and
frames” are in the little hall, for all who are disposed to
play; while “in the bricke hall,” amidst a miscellaneous
deposit, are registered—* two brass guns, a great deale
of old armor, head, back, and breast peeces, y
churns, trunks, old chairs,” and a great deal of other
lumber. The offices are full of aids to make life a
particularly pleasant thing, indicating abundant good
cheer and refinement, and even including “ seven dozen
of flaxen napkins for the steward’s hall”—Iluxuries
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which the gentlemens’ gentlemen and the upper Abigails
there assembling at their repasts could without doubt,
thoroughly appreciate.

When this inventory was taken, the Earl Charles was
yet a bachelor. He kept a solitary state at Kimbolton
(when not otherwise engaged in bringing about the
Revolution of 1688 and establishing the new order of
things) for half a dozen years. What leisure he could
have had for the pleasant pastime of wooing, it would
be difficult to say ; but, that he accomphshed this with
good success here, 1s a most authoritative assurance.

The following document is so far of interest, as it
refers to the marriage of the earl, from whose papers,
when ambassador from William IIL to Louis X1V.,
there will be found ample extracts in a succeeding page.
The year 1690 was an eventful one to this nobleman,
seeing that in 1t he wooed and won the second
daughter, and one of the co-heirs, of Lord Brooke, and
was at the side of William at the battle of the Boyne.
The subjoined certificate of the marriage seems to have
been delivered to the newly-married couple on the day
after the union :—

“These are to certify all whom it may concern, that
the Right Honourable Charles, Earl of Manchester, and
the Honourable Dodington Grevill, of Bremer, in the
county of Southampton, were married in the parish
church of Hale, in the county of Southampton, according
to the liturgy of the Church of England as by law estab-
lished, on Thursday, the 26th of February, 1690, by Mr.
Richard Owen, clerk, curate, &c. In testimony Whereof
I have hereunto set my hand this 27th day of February,
in the year above written.

(Signed) “Ricnarp OWEN.”

With this couple we now proceed on that mission
entrusted to Lord Manchester, whose instructions have
been printed in a preceding chapter.
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The correspondence from which this narrative is
framed is, with very rare exception, on Lord Manches-
ter’s side only. We learn at once from it that Lord
Manchester was busily engaged in serving his royal
master, long previous to his recognition as ambassador
from the Court of England, by a public or private recep-
tion at Versailles. It was a part of his duty to watch the
agents of the English Court at St. Germains, and among
his earliest communications to the official secretaries are
items of information concerning the “Intelligencers,”
as those agents were called. In September 1699, he
writes :—

“ There is often several of little note comes to St.
Germains ; and one, George Mills, living at the sign of
the Ship, in Charles Street, Westminster, keeps a
victualling-house there, came hither near three weeks
ago. He says he brought letters from 14 parliament
men. He is still at Fontainebleau, where he expects
his despatches for England ; and I believe I shall know
when he goes, and which way.

“ Mr. Thomas Johnson came also, and went soon
away for England. He keeps the Cook’s Arms, a
victualling-house, near Lockett’s. He is a sort of factor
for Colonel Bignan, and has 20l per annum. Mis.
Evans is gone for England. She saw King James and
the queen; was introduced by Birkenhead. It is
believed she brought and carried back letters. She is
the wife of Peter Evans, hair-merchant in the Old
Bailey.”

In other cases, the portraiture of the person is given
with more elaboration than in a passport. One Berke-
ley, who brought letters to Lord Drummond, Lord and
Lady Perth, and other Scottish courtiers waiting on
King James and his fortunes, is described as “a short,
thick, brown fellow, aged about 28, with a large
mouth.” His mission was to inform the lords in the
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cHAP. exiled English Court, of a design formed for “debauching
——-—— the army,” in Scotland. The design was attempted to
be carried into action by seducing some dragoons from
their duty. ¢ One Lieutenant Ogilvy,” says Lord Man-
chester, “is a great manager in that affair. He is in
Lord Tiviot’s regiment.” He was, however, not the sole
manager of treasonable designs against William. An
ex-quartermaster of horse, in King James’s service, one
John Coeburn, is spoken of as “another deputy”
bringing letters from the Earls of Trequaire and Hume.
Coeburn was “commissioned from the whole party of
the south of Scotland.” He must have been an agent
of some respectability ; for Lord Manchester describes
him as “now governor to Lord Seaton, waom he intro-
duced at Fontainebleau, to kiss King James’s han1 ”

From this time to the close of the year, items of
information of a similar nature succeed each other with
rapidity. At one time, the English Court is warned
against a dubious personage named Clarke, alias Father
Cosmo, who “is going to England, it is said, with some
character from the Duke of Florence to protect him.
He is very well acquainted,” adds the equally well-
informed ambassador, « with one Cockburn, a goldsmith
living at Round Court, in the Strand, and will probably
go to him, as soon as he arrives.” While directing the
attention of his Court to that locality in the Strand
which is now as little known as the cook’s paradise,
Pooridge Island, and the thieves’ rookery, the Ber-
mudas, of which Round Court was a part, at the north-
west side of the then narrow highway, the ambassador
turns from tracking men with an alias, to point out the
way whither men of greater note are betaking them-
selves.

“The Duke of Brunswicks” he says, “in his last jour-
ney, prevailed with the Pope to pay K. James’s arrears
of 32,000 per annum, for four years past of his pension
which was stopt on a declaration K. James sent into
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England in favour of the Protestants, which was re-
mitted by this Clarke from Leghorn to England. Part
of it is to this Cockburn ; part to Clapton, a woollen-
draper in the city—they do not know the street, but
he is rich and well-known ; and some to Pate, a woollen-
draper in the city. The use of it, it is said, is to bribe
Parliament men. Clarke has also brought the current
year’s pension to Paris, to the value of 50,000 crowns,
which K. James has put into the hand of one Innes the
priest, and Father Rankie the Jesuit, to be distributed
among the needy Jacobites here; 5,000 are given to

the D. of Berwick, Lord Melfort 4,0001., Lady Tyrconnell-

3,000/, and some to Lord Perth ; and 1,000 crowns to
Fitz James—he is a monk, but does not wear the
habit.”

The Jacobites on this side of the Channel partici-
pated in this liberal distribution of funds. One John
Wallis is designated as the recipient of a pension paid
quarterly, and the better-known Colonel William Grimes,
ex-lieutenant of horse in Dundee’s army, is named as
being paid in like manner, at Edinburgh.

At this period there were two ex-military men,
designated as sons of Colonel Grimes, and relatives of
Lord Perth, who wore the religious habit in France,
after leading rather gay lives at the English court of the
Stuarts, and in their service, in England. The elder of
these was a Capuchin friar, now named Brother Arch-
angel ; the younger was a Trappist of great celebrity,
known as Brother Alexis, but not as yet known, for he
did not enter the community before the year 1700. The
youth of Alexis (a man known in the world and the flesh
as Colonel Robert Grimes, or Greme, or according to
others Graham), had been a stormy one. In his boy-
hood he had been whipped by his presbyterian tutor
for attending a Roman Catholic service in the Scottish
capital. This outrage led to the boy being transferred
to the keeping of his kinsman, Lord Perth; but when
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cHAP. that nobleman’s affairs became embarrassed, the scape-
— V- grace Robert passed under the gnardianship of a gloomy
presbyterian uncle, whose household and whose neigh-
bours he scandalised by the licentiousness of his bearing.
His career of profligacy startled alike London, Paris,
and the whole of Flanders; and when, finally, the
prodigal was presented to King James, at the fugitive
English court at St. Germains, the royal hand was
kissed by one of the most accomplished scoundrels of

his time.

After alternations of rioting, religion, drinking, and
fasting, the libertine colonel announced his intention of
entering the stern monastery of La Trappe. The oppo-
sition to this step offered by Lord Perth was met by a
hurricane of blasphemy on the part of the repentant sin-
ner, who accomplished his design, and became one of the
most ingenious and cruel of self-tormentors in the gloomy
abode in which he dwelt. His faith was as that of a
child, his obedience that of an abject slave, and his
austerities so intense that, in a few months, he may- be
said, by their aid, to have committed suicide. Before
he died, however, it was the fashion for English court-
lers, serving either king, to visit the recluse, who often
received King James and bevys of ladies in his cell.
As the military monk lay dying there, early in the year
1701—eagerly dying, as may well be said of him—the
nursing-brother in attendance remarked, “I will pray
God to save you!” “And 1,” answered Alexis, ¢ will
ask Him not to heed you!” His death robbed the
English court at St. Germains of some little excitement,
and it may be observed of his life that its details furnish
the most singular of the biographies published in 1716
as—* Relations de la Vie et de la Mort de quelques
Religieux de 1’ Abbaye de la Trappe.’

A man of another quality and description now
appears in the correspondence of Lord Manchester; a
man who began life as a gentleman, and ended it as a
traitor and a vagabond.
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Cardell Goodman was a student at Cambridge,
whence he was expelled, for his part in mutilating the
portrait of the Duke of Monmouth, at that time
Chancellor of the University. This drove Cardell to the
stage, in search of the means of existence, but though
his talent was considerable, his pay was so small that
he shared a room, bed, and a single shirt with a fellow-
player, Griffin. To remedy this unpleasant state of

things, Goodman took to the highway, the common
~ resort of poor and impatient gentlemen in those days,
where however he succeeded so ill, that being taken,
tried, and condemned, he would have “swung for it,”
had not King James pardoned him. The Duchess of
Cleveland protected him, furnished him with home,
means, and such other favours as she was accustomed
to bestow on men who pleased her fancy with much
liberality. Goodman, who was “great” in the part of
“ Alexander ” (and who created the part of Polyperchon
in Lee’s tragedy), refused to play the part, unless
“my duchess,” as he used to call the lady who was
anybody’s duchess, was in the house. TLater, he
thought less of doing homage to her; and for bribing
a needy Italian quack to poison two of the Duchess’s
children, he was sentenced to a ruinous fine. From
the state of destitution into which he was now plunged,
“ Bcum Goodman ” strove to rescue himself by forging
bank notes. He then became connected with the
Jacobite plotters against the life of William, was con-
cerned with others in the assassination plot of 1696, was
admitted king’s evidence, and was subsequently by a
Jacobite agent, named O’Bryan, carried off, under the
pressure of fear and bribery, to France. What ulti-
mately became of this adventurer was not known till
the Earl of Manchester sent the following details, in
October 1699, to the Earl of Jersey :—

“The best account I can learn of O’'Bryan is what
he said of himself upon his first coming over, that he
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was always a great acquaintance of Goodman ; that
they had often robbed on the highway ; that when he
received the news of his being an evidence, he was in
custody of a messenger; that he was engaged with
him in the assassination (plot) though none of the
others know of it, which made him resolve to get
Goodman out of the way. So employing some friends,
he soon obtained his liberty. Colonel Ingram came to
him and told him that his friend would ruin Lord
Ailesbury and Lord Montgomery if it was not prevented,
and that those Lords would not spare any money to
persuade Goodman to go into France, or to have him
carried away by force. This O’Bryan undertook, and
Colonel Ingram procured a settlement of 500 per
annum, from the two Lords, besides 500/ in money.
That, with some difficulty, O’Bryan and Ingram met
Goodman at the Dog in Drury lane, where with fair
words, but more out of fear, he consented to go, and
O’Bryan never left him afterwards till he brought him
to St. Germains, where they were well received ; but
having spent their money, and Goodman not finding
anything would be done for him, he was dissatisfied ;
and lest, when my Lord Portland came, he might go to
his house for his protection, as they feared, he was
secured where he never has been heard of since.”
Such was the end of a man who had more ability than
principle, and who during his career on the stage was
the original impersonator of many characters in the
dramas of Dryden, Lee, and Settle, and in the adaptations
of D’Urfey, and the revivals of Shakspeare’s plays, in
one of which Goodman’s ¢ Julius Ceesar > was remarkable
for its force and dignity.

After Goodman disappeared altogether from the stage
and society, such society at least as was to be found at
the Dog, the Rose, and about the piazza, there remained
a not inconsolable Ariadne of his who felt well com-
pensated for the loss of her theatrical Theseus by
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meeting with a Bacchus willing to espouse her, in the
person of the pseudo-Lord Banbury. The lady in
question was Mrs. Price, the actress of pert waiting-
women and light-principled nymphs, at the theatre Royal,
in Lincoln’s Inn Fields. The pseudo-Lord Banbury who
actually married her, and not only her, but a Mrs. Lester
also, was the grandson of the true Lord Banbury, the
celebrated law case in connection with whom is worth
noticing as an illustration of social life in the seven-
teenth century. When in his sixteenth year, William
Knollys, first and only Earl of Banbury, married
Elizabeth Howard, daughter of the Earl of Suffolk.
The bride was then nineteen years of age. She was
the sister of Frances, Countess of Essex (by her second
marriage, Countess of Somerset), the poisoner of Over-
bury. Lady Banbury was on terms of great intimacy
with Lord Vaux, whom she rnarried not many weeks
subsequent to the death of her first husband, when
the latter was nearly ninety years of age. After the
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